
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

11 March 2020 
 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held on Thursday, 19th March, 2020, 6.00 pm in 
Marmion House 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
NON CONFIDENTIAL 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

3 Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 
in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
 

4 Question Time:  

 To answer questions from members of the public pursuant to Executive 
Procedure Rule No. 13 
 

5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 

6 Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022 (2020 Update) (Pages 11 - 34) 

 (Report of the Leader of the Council) 
 

7 Adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) 
Definition of Anti-Semitism (Pages 35 - 38) 

 (Report of the Leader of the Council) 
 

N0N-CONFIDENTIAL



8 Insurance Renewal 2020 (Pages 39 - 42) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Finance) 
 

9 Local Plan Review (Pages 43 - 110) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Regulatory and Community Safety) 
 

10 Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the 
following resolution:- 
 
“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraphs 1 and  3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public 
interest in withholding the information outweighs the public  interest in disclosing 
the information to the public” 
 
At the time this agenda is published no representations have been received that 
this part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
 

11 Tamworth Borough Council Grant Schemes (Pages 111 - 158) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing Services and Communities) 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
  _____________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 

Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 

be found here for further information. 

The Protocol requires that no members of the public are to be deliberately filmed.  Where 

possible, an area in the meeting room will be set aside for videoing, this is normally from the front 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx


of the public gallery.  This aims to allow filming to be carried out whilst minimising the risk of the 

public being accidentally filmed.    

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about accidental filming, please consider the 

location of any cameras when selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 

here 

 
 
 
 
To Councillors: D Cook, R Pritchard, J Chesworth, M Cook, S Doyle and J Oates. 

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1  
 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

CABINET 
HELD ON 20th FEBRUARY 2020 

 
 

 
PRESENT: Councillor D Cook (Chair), Councillors R Pritchard (Vice-Chair), 

J Chesworth, M Cook, S Doyle and J Oates 

 
The following officers were present: Andrew Barratt (Chief Executive), Stefan 
Garner (Executive Director Finance) and Lynne Pugh (Assistant Director 
Finance) 
 
 

71 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 6th February 2020 were approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor J Chesworth and seconded by Councillor M Cook) 
 

72 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

73 QUESTION TIME:  
 
None 
 

74 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  
 
None 
 

75 QUARTER THREE 2019/20 PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 
The Leader of the Council provided Cabinet with a performance update and 
financial Healthcheck. The report was considered by Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee at their meeting on 5th February 2020. 
 
RESOLVED That Cabinet; 
  

Endorsed the contents of this report. 
 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 20 February 2020 

 

 

2 
 

(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 

76 CORPORATE VISION, PRIORITIES PLAN, BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020/21  
 
The Leader of the Council proposed the Vision Statement, Priority Themes, 
Corporate Priorities and Plans and their inclusion in the Corporate Plan 
 
The recommended package of budget proposals to enable the Council to agree 
the; 
 
 

General Fund (GF) Revenue Budget and Council Tax for 2020/21; 
 

 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget for 2020/21; 
 

 

5 Year General Fund Capital Programme (2020/25); 
 

 

5 Year HRA Capital Programme (2020/25); 
 

 

3 Year General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
(2020/23); and 
 

 

5 Year HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (2020/25). 
 

 
To comply with the requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Policy in 
reporting to Council the proposed strategy for the forthcoming year and the Local 
Government Act 2003 with the reporting of the Prudential Indicators and the 
requirement to prepare an annual Corporate Capital Strategy 
 

 
RESOLVED That Cabinet endorsed the following recommendations 

to proceed to Council; 
 

1 
 
The Vision Statement, Priority Themes, Corporate 
Priorities and Outcomes for 2020/21 
 

2 The proposed revisions to Service Revenue Budgets 
(Policy Changes) 
 

3 The sum of £77,339 be applied from Council Tax 
Collection Fund surpluses in reducing the Council Tax 
demand in 2020/21 
 

4 The sum of £322,619 be applied from Business Rates 
Collection Fund surpluses in 2020/21 
 

5 That on 28th November 2019, the Cabinet calculated 
the Council Tax Base 2020/21 for the whole Council 
area as 22,367 [Item T in the formula in Section 
31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as 

Page 6



Cabinet 20 February 2020 

 

 

3 
 

amended (the "Act")]; 
 

6 That the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own 
purposes for 2020/21 is £4,068,334 
 

7 The following amounts as calculated for the year 
2020/21 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 
 
a. £49,783,001 being the aggregate of the amounts 
which the Council 
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the 
Act (Outgoings excluding internal GF Recharges); 
 
b. £45,714,667 being the aggregate of the amounts 
which the Council estimates for the items set out in 
Section 31A(3) of the Act (Income excluding internal GF 
Recharges); 
 
c. £4,068,334 being the amount by which the aggregate 
at 7(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 7(b) above, 
calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council 
Tax requirement for the year (Item R in the formula in 
Section 31A(4) of the Act); 
 
d. £181.89 being the amount at 7(c) above (Item R), all 
divided by Item T (at 5 above), calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 31B(1) 
of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for the 
year; 
 

8 The Council Tax level for the Borough Council for 
2020/21 of £181.89 (an increase of £5 (2.83%) on the 
2019/20 level of £176.89) at Band D; 
 

9 An aggregate Council Tax (comprising the respective 
demands of the Borough Council, Staffordshire County 
Council, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire Fire 
and Rescue Authority) of £1,780.17 at Band D for 
2020/21 be noted (£1,715.41 in 2019/20)  
 

10 The Council Tax levels at each band for 2020/21 
 

11 The sum of £1,074,572 be transferred from General 
Fund Revenue Balances in 2020/21 
 

12 The Summary General Fund Revenue Budget for 
2020/21 
 

13 The Provisional General Fund Budgets for 2021/22 to 

Page 7



Cabinet 20 February 2020 

 

 

4 
 

2022/23, as the basis for future planning; 
 

14 Minimum level for balances of £500k to be held for each 
of the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, 
General Capital Fund and Housing Capital Fund; 
 

15 Cabinet be authorised to release funding from the 
General Contingency budget and that the release of 
funding for Specific Contingency items be 
delegated to the Corporate Management Team in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council; 
 

16 Proposed HRA Expenditure level of £15,259,760 for 
2020/21; 
 

17 Rents for Council House Tenants in General 
Accommodation for 2020/21 be set at an average of 
£87.93 (2019/20 £85.62), over a 48 week rent year 
(including a 2.7% increase); 
 

18 Rents for Council House Tenants due for 52 weeks in 
2020/21 be collected over 48 weeks; 
 

19 The HRA deficit of £1,337,210 be financed through 
transfer from Housing Revenue Account Balances in 
2020/21 
 

20 The proposed 5 year General Fund Capital Programme 
of £5.820m,  
 

21 The proposed 5 year Housing Capital Programme of 
£46.862m, 
 

22 To delegate authority to Cabinet to approve/add new 
capital schemes to the capital programme where grant 
funding is received or there is no net 
additional cost to the Council; 
 

23 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the 
Treasury Management Policy Statement, Minimum 
Revenue Provision Strategy and Annual 
Investment Statement 2020/21 
 

24 The Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Limits for 
2020/21 to 2022/23 
 

25 Adoption of the Treasury Management Practices 
 

26 The detailed criteria of the Investment Strategy 2020/21 
contained in the Treasury Management Strategy; and 
 

Page 8



Cabinet 20 February 2020 

 

 

5 
 

27 The Corporate Capital Strategy and associated Action 
Plan 

 
(Moved by Councillor D Cook and seconded by Councillor R Pritchard) 
 

 
 
 
 

77 UTILITIES SUPPLY 2020  
 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Finance to advise Cabinet of 
the Authority’s requirement to review the market for the supply of water and 
sewerage services. It also requests the delegation of authority to the Executive 
Director Finance (EDF) to approve the future market reviews for water and the 
other utility services of Gas and Electricity.  
 
RESOLVED That Cabinet 

 
1 Endorsed this contract brief for the procurement of 

Water and Sewerage services 
 

2 Delegated Authority to the Executive Director Finance 
to approve future renewals of the utility services of 
Water, Electricity and Gas and appoint the successful 
suppliers 
 

3 Confirmed the approach to discuss options with 
suppliers to address the climate emergency 
 

 
(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor J Chesworth) 
 

78 WRITE OFFS  01 APRIL 2019 TO 31 DECEMBER 2019  
 
The Report of the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Finance proposed That 
Members endorse the amount of debt written off for the period 01 April 2019 to 31 
December 2019. 

 

RESOLVED That Cabinet  
 

 Endorsed the amount of debt written off for the period of 
1st April 2019 to 31 December 2019 

 
 
(Moved by Councillor R Pritchard and seconded by Councillor D Cook) 
 
 

  

 Leader  
 

Page 9



Cabinet 20 February 2020 

 

 

6 
 

 

Page 10



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 19 MARCH 2020 
 

 
REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

 
CORPORATE PLAN 2019 - 2022 (2020 UPDATE) 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
None 
 
PURPOSE 
 
To provide Cabinet Members with an update of the Council’s Corporate Plan for the 
period to 2022. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that: 
 

Cabinet approves the Corporate Plan update. 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
In March 2019 Cabinet adopted the Council’s Corporate Plan for the period 2019 to 
2022.  The focus of that document was upon how the Council will use its Corporate 
Plan, Medium Term Financial Strategy and agreed priorities to achieve the new 
vision. 
 
It is both prudent and good practise to provide our stakeholders with the assurance 
they need that Tamworth Borough Council has a vision and clear priorities that are 
supported by ambitious plans and actions. 
 
The plan also includes an Annual Review element and, in addition, Cabinet Members 
with portfolios for specific services have taken the opportunity to reflect upon some of 
the achievements in their respective summaries. 
 
This Corporate Plan update spans the remainder of the current Corporate Plan 
period to 2022 and is set out at Appendix 1.  Subject to Members’ approval it will be 
posted on the Council’s internet site for access on demand. 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
Not applicable 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are none directly arising from this report. 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
There are none directly arising from this report. 
 
EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are none directly arising from this report. 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are none directly arising from this report. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
The Council has complied with recognised best practise and produced a Corporate 
Plan annually since 2008. 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
The report was compiled by John Day and produced by the Council’s Graphics 
Team.  Contributions from Cabinet Members and Corporate Management Team 
have served to enhance the report. 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Not applicable 
 
APPENDICES 
 

1. Corporate Plan 2019- 2022 (Update 2020). 

Page 12



OUR VISION: To put Tamworth, its people and the local economy at the heart of everything we do

PEOPLE & PLACE ORGANISATION

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL  
CORPORATE PLAN 2019-2022 (UPDATE 2020)

Page 13



CORPORATE PLAN 
2019-2022 

WELCOME 
 
Welcome to Tamworth 
Borough Council’s 
Corporate Plan update  
for the years  
2020 – 2022.   

The document outlines 
what we want to achieve 
in the remaining years of 
the 2019 – 2022 
Corporate Plan and 
what we have achieved 
to date. 

 

Tamworth Borough Council2

CONTENTS 
 
INTRODUCTION 3 

OUR VISION, PURPOSE & PRIORITIES 4 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER STATEMENTS 5 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 13 

SUMMARY ACCOUNTS 2019/20 16 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  16 

WHAT WE’VE DONE SO FAR 17 

CONTACT US 22 

Page 14



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 3

INTRODUCTION 

2019/20 was a successful year for us.  It was the first year of our 2019-2022 
Corporate Plan with our new vision: ‘To put Tamworth, its people and the 
local economy at the heart of everything we do’, supported by the Strategic 
Priorities of ‘people and place’ and ‘organisation’.  This ensures we take full 
advantage of every opportunity that leads to Tamworth being a better place, 
its people having better lives or the Council being a better organisation. 
 
This plan update reaffirms these priorities, setting out the things we want to 
achieve over the plan period 2019 to 2022 and what we have achieved to 
date. 
 
Our performance highlights over the year include the re-opening of the 
refurbished Assembly Rooms, new council housing at Tinkers Green and Kerria 
being available for tenants, the award of our tenth Gold award in the Heart Of 
England in Bloom competition and the start of the Tamworth……What’s next? 
Initiative. 
 
We are always keen to improve so in June this year, we are set to undergo our 
second Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge.  This will be 
a critical but friendly look at our organisation to understand further how we 
are performing and to provide us with independent recommendations for 
consideration or improvement.  In the spirit of transparency we will share 
these findings with you when they become available later this year. 
 
The medium term financial planning process continues to be challenged by 
Government austerity measures as well as continued uncertainty.  The 
accomplishment of a balanced three year Medium Term Financial Strategy 
for the General Fund is a major achievement as the Council, like others, has 
planned to deliver its budget process in light of unprecedented adverse 
economic conditions with a great deal of uncertainty over future investment 
and income levels such as car parking, land charges and corporate property 
rents and central government’s ‘Fairer Funding Review’ which is planned for 
later this year. 
 
Tamworth Borough Council continues to believe that it is important to grow 
the economy to generate funds to help those less fortunate than ourselves. 
 
Our focus, energy and resources will continue to support our people, our 
place and our organisation to ensure that we achieve our vision: 
 
‘To put Tamworth, its people and the local economy at the heart of 
everything we do’. 
 

Daniel Cook 
Leader of the Council

Andrew Barratt 
Chief Executive

Page 15



OUR VISION, PURPOSE & PRIORITIES 

CORPORATE PLAN – ON A PAGE

Tamworth Borough Council4

 OUR PURPOSE IS TO:

 TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL: VISION 
To put Tamworth, its people and the local economy at the heart of everything we do

 
4 help tackle causes and effects of poverty and financial hardship 

4 increase all residents’ resilience and access to information 

4 engage with our residents to promote community involvement and civic pride 

4 support the development of Tamworth now, and in the future 

4 help the local economy to grow in a way which benefits our residents and businesses 

4 utilise Council resources effectively 

4 help tackle the causes of inequality and increase opportunities for all residents and businesses 

4 help protect, nurture and celebrate our local heritage 

4 help prevent homelessness and help people access suitable housing 

4 help build resilient communities 

4 help develop and safeguard our environment and open spaces 

 
People and Place

 OUR STRATEGIC PRIORITIES FOR 2019-2022

 
To meet housing needs through a 
variety of approaches and 
interventions 

To facilitate sustainable growth and 
economic prosperity 

To work collaboratively and flexibly to 
meet the needs of our communities 

To create a new and developing vision 
for the continued evolution of 
Tamworth, including a town centre  
fit for the 21st century 

 
Organisation

 
 
To be financially stable 

To ensure our employees have the 
right skills and culture to help our 
residents, visitors and businesses 

To ensure our service delivery is 
consistent, clear, and focused 

To ensure our decisions are driven 
by evidence and knowledge 

 

Page 16



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 5

PORTFOLIO HOLDER STATEMENTS 
PORTFOLIO: ASSETS & FINANCE 
 

CLLR ROBERT PRITCHARD 
DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

Our journey of change and improvement continues.  
 
 The future of local government funding is by no means certain, with reviews ongoing into 
Local Enterprise Partnerships, local government funding in general and the pressures on upper 
tier authorities around social care. 
 
This makes the medium term financial planning process challenging. There is an ongoing need to 
respond to this to ensure the continued provision of frontline services which are underpinned by 
efficient and effective support services. 
 
Strong financial management has helped to ensure continued delivery of front line services without 
the need for major service reductions – and the achievement of a three year balanced Medium 
Term Financial Strategy. At a time when many councils across the country are cutting frontline 
services and support to vulnerable residents we have continued to protect vulnerable people in our 
community who are in greatest need.  
 
The Council’s external auditors have again confirmed that the Council prepared a very good set of 
accounts, meeting statutory deadlines, and that the Council has a track record for delivering 
budgeted savings.  Going forward, the preparation and provision of high quality financial 
management information will assist in enabling and informing the decision making process of the 
Council. 
 
The Councils’ Revenues Team has once again performed to very high standards and has been 
proactively increasing the authority’s income and its preceptors – to assist in financing the balanced 
Medium Term Financial Strategy ensuring continued front line service provision. 
 
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous years which 
means that we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, collaboration and transformation.  
This year we entered into a shared legal service with South Staffordshire and Lichfield District Councils 
which provides the Council with an increased access to legal specialists and additional resilience. As 
part of the Government’s ambition to make the home-buying process simpler, faster and cheaper, 
the Council has commenced working in partnership with the HM Land Registry.  Work is well 
underway to ensure our local land charges data is accurate and in a standardised format so that 
customers will access local land charges register information in one accessible place.  The process is 
likely to take at least twelve months. 
 
Looking at other customer facing service areas, the Council is committed to delivering excellent 
customer services. We continue to invest in our teams, transform our processes and ensure our 
technology infrastructure is fit for purpose. We have identified a number of opportunities to improve 
customer access to information and services as well as our engagement with our citizens and the 
way in which we manage our data and information with the aim of re-designing processes to meet 
changing customer expectations and making the best use of technology to deliver efficient and 
effective services to the customer, including self-service and digital functionality. Page 17



Tamworth Borough Council6

The Tamworth Information Centre has now relocated to the newly refurbished Assembly Rooms. The 
move gives the service a more central location and allows for more flexible and extended opening 
hours, including weekends and evenings when the theatre is open for shows. The Tamworth 
Information Centre will continue to provide a range of services for residents and visitors to the town. 
This includes selling tickets for the Assembly Rooms and Tamworth Castle, coach tour and event 
bookings, National Express tickets, Arriva bus passes, parking permits, information on local amenities 
and services, green bin subscriptions, plus gifts and souvenirs. 
 
We will continue to review every service at the Council to ensure maximum efficiency.  We will also 
focus our investment strategy to drive local economic growth and council financial stability. 
The Council plans to develop a comprehensive Asset Management Plan for both the Housing 
Revenue Account and General Fund assets in support of a revised Capital Strategy. To support this 
process the Council needs to understand the current condition of its assets along with current and 
future investment requirements and has planned to carry out condition surveys in the coming year 
to support this approach. 
 
With regard to Council assets, we have already planned to make better use of garage sites, our 
limited number of town centre properties and other land assets dotted around Tamworth. Ward 
members have a key role to play in informing Council decisions on these sites, using their local 
knowledge to help shape future decisions. 
 
We continue to work with County Council colleagues to ensure that the needs of Tamworth residents 
are fully understood in relation to the delivery of Disability Facilities Grants. At the present time 
demand for Disabled Facilities Grants outstrips available resources and the Council continues to 
press for a review of the means by which grant is allocated. 
 
Over the next twelve months we will continue to invest in elected members and employees to ensure 
that they have the skills, knowledge and information they need in order to achieve our new revised 
vision and priorities. 
 
Finally, the Council will continue to ensure it is open and accountable to the public, this will be 
achieved through a review of the council constitution and ensuring good governance across the 
authority. Through supporting the Leader of the Council and helping all members to being their 
views and ideas to the discussion, I will work to create a better town for residents, businesses and 
visitors alike. 

 

 

 
PORTFOLIO: ASSETS & FINANCE cont. 
 

Page 18



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 7

 
PORTFOLIO: CULTURE & OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

CLLR JOHN CHESWORTH 
 

Our shared waste collection service with Lichfield District Council continues to provide 
a quality service that delivers value for money and assists in meeting the challenging 
recycling targets set. The percentage of recycling collected against waste sent for 
incineration (energy from waste) is holding firm at 42.4%.  The sign up rates for our Green 
Waste collection service were 52.4% and look to be heading the same way in 2020.  
 
The Street Scene team have again proven to be invaluable and are proactive in their approach.  
They deliver the day to day functions necessary to keep our town looking clean and tidy, and this is 
recognised in the number of positive comments received about their work and to help them going 
forwards a new fleet of mowers and sweepers has been procured.  The team, along with community 
groups from across the town, have again achieved a tenth consecutive Gold Award in the Heart of 
England 'In Bloom' competition, which was a fantastic effort.  They are also responsible for 
maintaining our open spaces, ensuring that they are safe, attractive and fit for purpose for our 
residents and visitors. 
 
We continued to make improvements in Information, Communication and Technology (ICT) 
including a programme of upgrades to our corporate applications, operating systems and ICT 
infrastructure and launched our in-house developed web based application for our Sheltered 
Housing Scheme Managers. We continued work on maintaining our General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) compliance and wider information governance, met our Public Services Network 
(PSN) compliance obligations and delivered a programme of cyber security awareness training to 
all staff.  It was pleasing to see that 100% of 652 Freedom of Information requests were completed 
within 20 days in the 12 months from January 2019 and that the ICT Service Desk fixed 75.49% of all 
calls at first contact, answered 93.42% of all calls within 15 seconds and resolved 92.75% of all 
incidents within the Service Level Agreement (SLA). 
 
This year we will develop and publish our five year ICT strategy, improve the resilience of our 
telecommunications infrastructure, continue development of the Customer Portal, implement further 
network security improvements and continue our wholesale review of ICT systems, ensuring contracts 
are fit for purpose and value for money and develop our 'Knowledge Hub' to make best use of 
customer intelligence and insight. 
 
The outdoor events program has again delivered a packed year of events and activities. We 
welcomed four new friends to Dosthill Park in the shape of Mole, Ratty, Toad and Badger as part of 
Tamworth in Bloom and the Wind in the Willows Outdoor Theatre.  Tamworth's talented performers 
filled the bandstand with a variety of free concerts across the summer. The Outdoor Cinema proved 
hugely popular again as crowds enjoyed the experience of Bohemian Rhapsody on the big screen, 
blasting out the apt 'We Are the Champions'. The ‘Fireworks night’ was another extravaganza as 
thousands again enjoyed the spectacle, which this year was set to popular TV and film tunes. 
Finishing off the year the Christmas lights were switched on and groups joined together to create a 
lantern tree which lit up the bandstand as part of a lantern parade. 2020 will see another year of 
amazing events as well as activities which will continue to develop and engage more people in the 
arts in Tamworth. 

Page 19



Tamworth Borough Council8

CLLR JEREMY OATES 
 

Building on the hard work of the late councillor Steve Claymore, 2019 saw the 
competition and significant progress of a number of projects in Tamworth which we are 
now beginning to enjoy the rewards of.  
 
The town centre is a priority for both the Council and the public of Tamworth as we 
recognise it is pivotal to the economic growth of Tamworth. For this reason, the Heritage and Growth 
portfolio has several projects specifically aimed at regenerating Tamworth’s town centre. During last 
summer the Council ran the ‘Tamworth…. What’s Next’ discussions which generated a plethora of 
ideas and suggestions as to how the town centre could improve and ideas of what would benefit 
the town centre. Some of the suggestions involved structural change, some involved public realm 
changes and some highlighted areas where communications between all partners could be 
improved; as a result a number of projects have now started. 
 
Town centre projects are being shaped and driven forward and supported with the political 
commitment of myself, a dedicated Heritage Champion Councillor Paul Brindley and a dedicated 
Town Centre Champion Councillor Ben Price. Together we are working hard to shape the future of 
Tamworth’s Town Centre. 
 
The enterprise/cultural quarter around Corporation Street has now seen the competition of the 
second stage with the opening of the newly refurbished and extended Assembly Rooms. This was a 
huge project which saw over £5m of Heritage Lottery funding, Local Enterprise funding and Tamworth 
Borough Council funding being invested into the future proofing of Tamworth’s heritage and arts 
offer. The building has not only been repaired, made safe and secured for the future, but has also 
benefited from extensions to it with a new bar, new café (open to the public) and more toilets 
including disabled changing facilities. For the first time ever, the backstage area has been 
completely refitted improving our ability to bring a wider variety of acts and shows to the heart of 
Tamworth as well as supporting the wide range of community groups that feel the Assembly Rooms 
is their home. Already we are seeing ticket sales and bookings growing.  
 
The Tamworth Information Centre has also moved into the Assembly Rooms as a first step towards 
the service being rolled out with new cabinets being fitted as well as an adjustment in focus to take 
advantage of technology. The service will not only be a static information point but will also become 
an advocate for Tamworth aiming to attract visitors from far and wide to visit Tamworth.  
 
The Assembly Rooms stage in investment into Tamworth comes after the successful investment in 
Tamworth Enterprise Centre (TEC) offering high quality, fully serviced offices with easy ‘in and out’ 
affordable rent to ‘start-up’ and fledgling businesses. Since then we have maintained 100% 
occupancy, seen several businesses outgrow the facility and been immediately replaced by new 
businesses locating there. There has also been an increase in the use of the flexible meeting space 
available, as businesses recognise the value of using this facility. In addition to this, there is evidence 
that the private sector market for office space has seen improvements in demand for both space 
and quality of offer with other landlords matching the quality offer of Tamworth Borough Council.  
 

 
PORTFOLIO: HERITAGE & GROWTH 
 

Page 20



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 9

Tamworth is an ancient town with a strong heritage and may well have more history than the major 
cities in the UK. This year projects have begun around how we celebrate the ‘Tamworth Story’ with 
input from the experts who live amongst us. Tamworth has a strong set of heritage and local interest 
groups celebrating all aspects of our history from Saxons to Peel, from Gibbs and Canning to Reliant, 
from Aethelfleda to Colin Grazier and Ernest Titterton and of course our beautiful Castle. Our experts 
are our residents and with the Heritage Champion we are driving forward a project to protect the 
‘Tamworth Story’ and ensure that this story is not lost and is retold for future generations.  We must 
take advantage of the knowledge we have and new technologies to make the most of our history 
and heritage to make Tamworth a visitor destination with a cultural exchange offer. Tamworth needs 
to future proof its heritage.  
 
This year Tamworth Castle will benefit from the completion of the latest Heritage Lottery funding 
investment with changes to not just displays but also to the experience of a visit to Tamworth’s Castle 
bringing local history to life. Not only this, but the exterior of the castle may well appear different with 
the installation of new flood lighting around the castle which is not only more environmentally 
friendly but will also enable the castle to be lit in a rainbow of colour for special events. For the first 
time one of our landmarks can be lit and used to join in with national events of light.  
 
A key theme that is often raised is how the town centre no longer looks and feels like a town centre 
of Tamworth should and that structural change must take place. Tamworth Borough Council has two 
significant plans being drawn up to begin to address this with the master planning of the Gungate 
site and the successful expression of interest for Future High Street Funding. We know that there is a 
higher than average vacancy rate in the town and we know footfall is plummeting. Both these 
projects are focussed on not only improving the look of the town but also bringing people into the 
town centre to live, work, relax and shop. Following the purchase of the Gungate site, formerly 
housing the precinct, work has progressed on master planning a mix of uses including residential, 
retail and leisure. 
 
Tamworth Borough Council is utilising the Government’s award of £150,000 to build up a business 
plan for submission this year to government funding to draw on some of the millions of pounds 
available for investment in town centres. We will be pushing hard the opportunities that Tamworth 
presents and, if awarded, Tamworth’s town centre will see the biggest change in a generation and 
future proof Tamworth and its significance.  
 
Economic growth is not just about Tamworth’s town centre so as a council we are active at the West 
Midlands Combined Authority, Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise Partnership and 
Staffordshire and Stoke Local Enterprise Partnership. These platforms allow us to not only know what 
opportunities are out there but also draw down support in both finance and expertise, especially 
with the business representation at the Local Enterprise Partnerships. Regionally we have several 
changes that will impact on Tamworth’s economy and being involved with these bodies allows us to 
make the most of these and, where necessary, prepare and mitigate should we need to. Tamworth 
has both submitted bids for funding and received funding over recent years for projects including 
the TEC and Assembly Rooms.  
 
In the coming year we have several significant projects and challenges which mean this portfolio is 
going to be busy and exciting as we continue to do what Tamworth is good at, adjusting the shape 
of Tamworth ready for the challenges of the next centuries.  

Page 21



Tamworth Borough Council10

PORTFOLIO:  
REGULATORY & COMMUNITY SAFETY 

CLLR STEPHEN DOYLE 
 

As in previous years, the Community Safety Partnership continues to provide a high 
level of confidence within the community, particularly those who are the most 
vulnerable in our society, in an environment where the partners can share information 
and avoid duplication of effort. 
 
In line with the Council’s key priorities there is a strong theme of seeking to protect the most 
vulnerable within our communities, by providing training and guidance to partners, working with 
neighbouring councils and more recently reviewing the Licensing policy for Tamworth.   
The review of the Licensing Policy, which was adopted late in 2019, continues to adopt a Cumulative 
Impact Assessment around Tamworth town centre. This limits the number of applications granted in 
areas where there is evidence to show that the number and density of licensed premises in the area 
is having a cumulative impact.  
 
The future sees the team undergoing business transformation to become a digitised and 
streamlined service ready to meet the needs of the community it serves.  
The on-going task of combating anti-social behaviour continues and recently we saw the renewal of 
the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for Dosthill Park which has proven to be popular and 
successful in its application; the use of PSPO’s empower the Police and our own Community 
Wardens. 
 
The Community Wardens continue to provide an important service to both the Council and our 
partners and we look to further develop the service to meet both changing times and new 
demands.  They continue to engage with residents, particularly the younger members of the 
community, on issues such as internet safety and anti-social behaviour as well as working with our 
partners in maintaining community safety. 
 
Domestic violence remains a high priority for the Council and we actively support our partners in 
combating domestic crime and welcome the recent funding awarded to New Era.  Early intervention 
remains key to much of the work carried out by Tamworth Borough Council and our partners. 
 
The Planning Team have been busy preparing the information needed for a review of the Local Plan 
for development within Tamworth. 
 
Key evidence base documents have been commissioned or delivered including a Housing and 
Economic Development Needs Assessment jointly with Lichfield District Council, a Gypsy and 
Traveller Accommodation Assessment jointly with Lichfield and North Warwickshire District Councils.  
A Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and Water Cycle Study has been prepared jointly with Staffordshire 
Authorities and a Climate Mitigation Study has also been commissioned. 
 
In August of 2019, the Borough Council’s Design Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was 
adopted, the purpose of which is to create attractive, well designed and robust places that improve 
quality and sense of place.  The planning team have been successfully using the SPD to make 
informed decisions on applications received by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Page 22



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 11

Work continues on legislative requirements that place a Duty to cooperate with neighbouring and 
other authorities that have strategic and/or cross border matters in common like those of our near 
neighbours Lichfield and North Warwickshire District Councils and those further afield within the 
Housing Market Area and Birmingham City Council.  
 
The preparation of a new Local Plan, which will set the blueprint for growth into the future, will be 
started over the next twelve months. This plan will reflect changes in the needs for Tamworth Borough, 
particularly housing and economic growth and address the need for a fresh approach to policy 
within the town centre. 
 
The Development Control team continues to be top performers by delivering 95%+ of applications 
within the eight and twelve week government targets.  Applications have continued to be bought 
forward that seek to meet challenging housing targets set out in the Tamworth Local Plan. The 
planning team have engaged with neighbouring authorities to ensure that applications on the 
border of Tamworth contribute to necessary infrastructure in Tamworth to meet the needs of those 
new residents.  The team will continue their high performance over the next twelve months to ensure 
that the Borough Council’s growth agenda is delivered.  
 
The recently formed Building Control Partnership have performed to a high level over the last year 
and are on target to generate the required fees and process applications within their given 
timescales.  The Partnership has been awarded ISO9001 Quality Management accreditation which 
demonstrates their provision of a consistent quality of service and an internal audit by Lichfield 
District Council delivered the view that they had substantial assurance in the processes and 
procedures adopted by the team.  
 
The Central Building Control Partnership Board met for the first time in October 2019 to discuss the 
way in which the Partnership can develop its service. The aim is to deliver business transformation 
where agile working coupled with more creative marketing will be explored.  
 

Page 23



PORTFOLIO:  
HOUSING SERVICES & COMMUNITIES  

CLLR MICHELLE COOK 
 

The 2019 is a year that the Housing and Neighbourhood teams will not forget in a 
hurry, as usual I am delighted to be able to share some of the highlights with you.  
  
The Kerria and Tinkers Green redevelopments made some major step forwards.   
Both sites saw their first occupations, with 38 homes now occupied in Tinkers Green   
and 11 in the Kerria.  
 
We added an additional 11 properties to our books in 2019 through acquisitions, spending a total  
of £1.3m.  

 
Investing in our council owned stock remains a priority; the high rise blocks works to balconies, lifts 
and internal appearances were all completed. These have transformed the visual appearance of the 
blocks and have been extremely well received. We have also seen our sprinklers project being 
completed, with most units across our six high rise blocks and at Eringden now having sprinklers. 
Lovells, our installation contractor, did a marvellous job engaging with residents and ensuring that 
people were satisfied throughout.  
 
Homelessness reduction remains a top priority of the Council. It was extremely pleasing that our 
works in 2018 were recognised nationally, with the authority being asked to sit on a MHCLG 
Homelessness task force. The true scale of our works has been the marked decline in those needing 
B&B/Hotel accommodation – down from over 100 in 2016/17 to zero/single figures every week in 
2019. This has resulted in over £100k saving to the general fund and means that more people are 
sustaining tenancies, thus not suffering the upheaval of homelessness. 
 
We have been able to continue our night shelter partnership, with the winter of 2019/2020 proving to 
be another success. 
 
Finally, in 2019 our new allocation policy was approved. This will go live in 2020, ensuring council 
properties are available for those who need them most into the new decade. 
 
There are lots of exciting things coming up in 2020, including the completion of the regeneration of 
Tinkers Green and The Kerria, a refresh of our garage sites, a new housing repairs contractor and our 
stock conditions survey.  
 
Finally, I wanted to thank again our staff, contractors and tenants for their continued support and 
encouragement.  

Tamworth Borough Council12

Page 24



Tamworth Borough Council13

THE MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 
STEFAN GARNER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
(FINANCE) 

Future levels of funding for the Council are uncertain. The budget setting 
process has faced significant constraints in Government funding in recent 
years - over 50% in real terms since 2010. The accomplishment of a balanced 
three Year Medium Term Financial Strategy for the General Fund is a major 
achievement as the Council, like others, has planned to deliver its budget process 
in light of unprecedented adverse economic conditions with a great deal of 
uncertainty over future investment and income levels such as car parking, land 
charges and corporate property rents.  
 
The Council is responding to these challenges by considering the opportunities to grow   
our income.  We are ambitious with our commercial view and will continue to work hard to identify 
income streams that enable us to continue to meet the needs of our residents.  The Council remains 
committed to promoting and stimulating economic growth and regeneration; meeting our housing 
needs; creating a vibrant town centre economy and protecting those most vulnerable in our 
communities.   
 
More than ever, we recognise that our financial capacity will be less than in previous years which 
means that we will need to maintain our approach to innovation, collaboration and transformation.  
So, not only will the Council seek investment from businesses and developers, but the Council itself will 
explore viable and sustainable investment opportunities using all returns to support public services. 
 
We continue to invest in our teams, transform our processes and ensure our technology infrastructure 
is fit for purpose. We have identified a number of opportunities to improve customer access to 
information and services as well as our engagement with our citizens and the way in which we 
manage our data and information.  
 
The adoption of ‘Demand Management’ as the primary operating model and the targeting of 
resources via locality based commissioning and delivery has enabled greater effectiveness in 
service delivery.  As part of a ‘Tamworth Community Offer’ we will: 
 
4 Improve our use of ‘insight’ in shaping services and directing investment; 

4 Better align service delivery to ensure we act with purpose and are accountable; 

4 Support the Demand Management model with prevention approaches which seek to tackle 
causes and reduce costs; 

4 Develop approaches which genuinely ‘empower’ individuals and communities; 

4 Support a transformed dialogue with residents - recognising that our financial capacity will be 
less than in previous years which means educating and supporting communities to focus 
resources on ‘needs’ and being clear on what we are able to do and equally what we can’t.  

 

Page 25



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 14

Key to this will be the application of existing and new technology to capture, collate and analyse 
customer insight, intelligence and data so as to understand not just the ‘need’ but the cause, 
behaviours or decisions creating the need. Then, by the application of locality based commissioning 
for example, the Council can commission services that either intervene or prevent future need 
thereby reducing demand. This approach will change the organisation and how it works; will involve 
managed risks and will sustain essential services critical in supporting the most vulnerable in our 
communities at a time when demand is increasing and resources reducing.  
 
Linked with this, a major ‘Delivering Quality Services’ project will incorporate a review of processes and 
demand, with the aim of re-designing processes to meet changing customer expectations and 
making the best use of technology to deliver efficient and effective services to the customer, 
including self-service and digital functionality.  
 
Work is continuing on a number of actions to address the financial position in future years: 
 
4 Recruitment freeze – there is a robust challenge / re-justification process in place for all vacant 

posts with a requirement to investigate alternative options including restructuring to fill vacancies 
/looking at what we can stop doing; 

4 Spend freeze –A review of the underspend position has been undertaken with a view to drive out 
as many savings as possible – and has identified annual savings of c.£160k p.a. from 2020/21. 

4 Alternative investment options arising from the Commercial Investment Strategy (as well as the 
Treasury Management Investment Strategy) to generate improved returns of c. 4% to 5% p.a. (plus 
asset growth); 

4 Review of reserves (including ensuring adequate provision for the funding uncertainties)  
/creation of fund for transformation costs (if needed); 

4 Targeted Savings – to identify potential areas for review in future years; and 

4 Review and rationalisation of IT systems. 

Council, on 25th February 2020, approved a three year Medium Term Financial Strategy for the 
General Fund with a Council Tax increase of £5 for the year – in order to continue to deliver those 
services essential to the Local Community..  
 
With regard to the Housing Revenue Account, a five year MTFS was approved by Council  including 
significant investment in Regeneration projects to meet future housing needs and sustain the HRA in 
the longer term. 

Page 26



Tamworth Borough Council15

The headline figures for 2020/21 are:

 
4 a General Fund Net Cost of Services of  a reduction of 2.7% 

compared to 2019/20; 

4 the Band D Council Tax would be set at an increase 

      of £5 (2.83% - c.£0.10 per week) on the level from 2019/20 of £176.89; 

4 a General Fund Capital Programme of  for 5 years; 

 

4 a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Expenditure level of for 2020/21  
(excluding interest & similar charges); 

4 an average rent of                             set in line with the approved Rent Setting Policy including 

      a 2.7% increase in average rent (on the 2019/2020 average rent of £85.62 based on a 48 
week rent year) in line with Government confirmation that social housing rents can increase 
‘up  to’ a factor of the consumer price index (CPI) measure of inflation plus 1% for five years 
from 2020, following the conclusion of a consultation of the new rent standard, and equates to 
£81.17 on an annualised 52 week basis; 

4 a Housing Capital Programme of                                               for 5 years. 

£9,153,400
£181.89

£5.82m
£15,259,760

£87.93

£46.862m

Page 27



 Due to the earlier publication of this combined document the draft summary accounts for 2019/20 
are not yet available.  As soon as they are (approximately end of June 2020) they will be posted on 
the Council’s website. 
 

 
 
 
 

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 
The Annual Governance Statement is a statutory document published following a review of the 
effectiveness of the Authority’s system of internal control.  It explains the governance framework 
(systems and processes, culture and values) that the Authority has in place, and includes an action 
plan to address any significant governance issues identified. 
Due to the earlier publication of this combined document, the annual governance statement for 
2019/20 is not yet available.  The Annual Governance Statement is published with the Annual 
Statement of Accounts and will be available later in the year. 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMARY ACCOUNTS 2019/20

Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 16

Page 28



WHAT WE’VE DONE SO FAR 
OUR PRIORITIES: PEOPLE & PLACE PRIORITIES 

Tamworth Borough Council17

     Priority       Key Actions/Deliverables 2019/22       What we have done so far

1.To meet 
housing need 
through a 
variety of 
approaches 
and 
intervention 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

2.To facilitate 
sustainable 
growth and 
economic 

prosperity 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.To work 

collaboratively 
and flexibly to 
meet the 
needs of our 
communities 

4Completion of new council housing at Tinkers 
Green and Kerria to deadline and budget 

 

 

 

 

4Implementation of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and associated actions 

 

 
 

4Reviewing our local plan to ensure it is fit for 
purpose and reflective of housing needs 

 

 

 

 

 

4Working with Landlords to help ensure relevant 
standards for private rented are achieved  

 

4Development of a Place Investment Strategy 
 
 

4Production of a viable and deliverable 
masterplan to encompass the Gungate site 
that is both reflective of the towns needs and 
fiscal requirements 

 

4Delivery of sound business advice through 
locally engaged growth hub advisors 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4Review of Tamworth Strategic Partnership 
 

 

4Promotion of the Council’s role in community 
leadership and member involvement

To date 38 homes have been completed at 
Tinkers Green and 11 homes have been 
completed at Kerria 
A new Repairs & Investment contract will 
commence in April 2020 supported by an  
in-house call centre 
 
Reduction in Bed & Breakfast placements to  
56 in 2019/20 
The night shelter continued and a successful 
grant application was made 
 
A report will be presented to the Local Plan 
working group in the Spring of 2020 setting out 
a timetable for Local Plan review. 
A new Housing Allocations Policy was agreed 
by Council. 
Work has been carried out on the Housing 
Strategy 
 
Houses in multiple occupation licensing 
 
 
Work has been delayed as the focus has been 
on the Future High Street Fund 
 
Public consultation on the Masterplan will be 
delivered after the elections in May; Cabinet 
approval will be sought following this 
consultation. 
 
Phase two of the project is underway.  Growth 
Hub adviser contract extended until 2022. 
The Greater Birmingham & Solihull Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GBSLEP) is funding a 
Skills Officer to be provided through Tamworth 
Borough Council. 
The Tamworth Enterprise Centre is hosting South 
Staffordshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
(SSLEP)  Growth Hub provision. 
 
The Tamworth Strategic Partnership has been 
reviewed and a number of partnership 
meetings have taken place. 
 
The Member induction programme was 
reviewed. 
A new Memberszone was developed on the 
intranet providing a source of information for 
our Councillors. 
Development of the scrutiny function. 
The Tamworth What’s Next initiative to obtain 
ideas on the future of the town centre was 
initiated by the Leader. 

Page 29



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 18

     Priority       Key Actions/Deliverables 2019/22       What we have done so far

4.To create a 
new and 
developing 
vision for the 
continued 
evolution of 
Tamworth, 
including a 
Town Centre fit 
for the 21st 
century 

4Engage with residents to shape our services, 
test customer satisfaction and empower 
communities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4Ensuring early help and intervention is at the 
heart of service delivery 

 
 
 
 

4Develop a Master plan for the Town Centre 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4Delivery of a co-ordinated Town Centre 
Programme 

 

 

4Relocation of Tamworth Information Centre 
 
 

4Delivery of the HLF funded ‘Battle and Tribute’ 
project at Tamworth Castle 

 
 
 

4Timely opening of the refurbished assembly 
rooms 

 

4Develop a masterplan for new community 
green space and the delivery of a local centre 
at Amington

Revised ‘Tell Us’ scheme introduced to make it 
easier for customers to provide feedback. 
Consultation activities have included: 
· Tamworth.What’s Next? 
· Housing Allocations Policy 
· Budget and priorities 
· Licensing Policy review 
· Amington Community Woodland 
· Public Space Protection Order – Dosthill Park 
In 2019, all 652 Freedom of Information requests 
were responded to within the legislative timescales. 
A favourable Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman Annual Review was received with 
no complaints being upheld. 
 
A Corporate debt working group has been 
established and a Corporate Debt Strategy is 
being developed. 
The Homelessness Strategy was reviewed. 
Third sector commissioning 
 
Due to work on the Future High Streets Fund 
(FHSF) this has been delayed until later in 
2020/21.  The FHSF business case will provide 
the evidence and a starting point for this work 
to continue. 
The delivery of the Gateways Project is ongoing 
and is being looked at in the context of the FHSF. 
The Castle Grounds ‘changing places’ facility 
was installed and opened together with 
refurbished toilets in the Summer of 2019. New 
paths, landscaping and fencing were installed 
in the Castle Grounds. 
 
Work in this area has included the Town Centre 
Strategy, Gungate Masterplan, Place Investment 
Strategy, Market retender, Town Centre funding 
applications and a car parking strategy 
 
The Tamworth Information Centre relocated into 
regenerated Assembly Rooms in January 2020 
 
Funded in large part by the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund, building work is underway to 
transform the top floor at Tamworth Castle into a 
brand new exhibition dedicated to the town’s 
Anglo-Saxon heritage 
 
The Assembly Rooms reopened in January 2020 
following a multi-million pound refurbishment; 
the biggest in its 130 year history 
 
A Community Woodlands landscape plan is  
in place. 
£100k grant received from ‘Green Spaces’

Page 30



 
OUR PRIORITIES: ORGANISATION PRIORITIES

19 Tamworth Borough Council

     Priority       Key Actions/Deliverables 2019/22       What we have done so far

1.To be 
financially 
stable

4Delivery of a three year Medium Term  
Financial Strategy  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

4Review of Corporate Capital Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

4Asset Management Strategy for Housing 
Revenue Account and General Fund assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

4Complete a commercialisation review and 
implement measures identified 

 

 

 

 

 

Council, on 25th February 2020, approved a 
three year Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) for the General Fund with a Council Tax 
increase of £5 for the year – in order to 
continue to deliver those services essential to 
the Local Community  
With regard to the Housing Revenue Account,  
a five year MTFS was approved by Council  
including significant investment in 
Regeneration projects to meet future housing 
needs and sustain the HRA in the longer term 
 
An updated Corporate Capital Strategy was 
approved by Council with the MTFS which 
reflected the work completed on the agreed 
action plan items since 2019 including: 

· Indicative capital requirements for the long 
term identified as part of the business  
planning process; 

· Consideration of whole life costs; 
· Scrutiny of completed post implementation 

reviews and the capital programme on a 
quarterly basis by the Asset Strategy Steering 
Group; 

 
Budget provision has been included in the 
MTFS for the Asset Management Plan to be 
reviewed and updated, with an up to date 
stock condition survey during 2020. This should 
set out the detailed capital 
resources/expenditure required to maintain 
assets, together with the associated timeframe, 
to inform options appraisal and feed into the 
capital strategy for ASSG/CMT review of 
potential schemes 
 
The review of the approach to 
commercialisation by the District Councils 
across the region has been completed 
The results and recommendations arising from 
this has informed the development of a 
Commercialisation Strategy (in draft) and 
action plan for review and approval by Cabinet 
early in 2020 
 

Page 31



Corporate Plan 2019-2022 (Update 2020) 20

     Priority       Key Actions/Deliverables 2019/22       What we have done so far

2.To ensure our 
employees 
have the right 
skills and 
culture to help 
our residents, 
visitors and 
businesses

4Invest in commercial activities including 
1.Development of Council’s Trading company 

and associated income stream 
2.Maximise returns of Cash flow through Property 

Fund investments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.Prepare a viable deliverable plan that delivers 

the regeneration of Gungate 
 
 

4Continue with channel shift to digital across all 
departments  
Implement Corporate customer portals 

 
 
 
 
 

4Complete phase 2 of Senior Management 
Review 

 

4Develop an organisational and People 
Strategy that ensures the organisation is 
focussed on the future 

 
 
 

4Undertake a Peer review 
 

4Develop a training and development 
programme that focusses on generic skills as 
well as the technical skills required for the 21st 
Century public servant 

 

4Develop a member training portal to equip 
elected members with the necessary skills and 
knowledge to allow them to act as public 
advocates

 
1.Company established during 2018 (Solway 

(Tamworth) Limited) 
2.Since 2018 the Council has started to invest in 

Commercial Property Funds to establish a 
portfolio which is managed to generate a 
revenue return to the Council to support 
financial sustainability and to protect the 
provision of services to residents, along with 
maintaining and growing the capital value of 
the investment. A capital scheme of £12m was 
included within the 2018/19 capital programme 
to generate a target net additional income of c. 
£300k per annum financed from part of the 
capital receipt from the sale of the former Golf 
Course. During 2018, the Council invested c.£4m 
in 2 property funds – which are yielding a return 
of c.4% p.a. 

3. Following public consultation, Cabinet approval 
will be sought for  the masterplan incorporating 
Gungate in the Summer of 2020 

 
Work on the implementation of the Customer 
Portal and the Customer Relationship 
Management system continues and skills are 
being further enhanced to enable self-
sufficiency in the portal 
Customer complaints are now being managed 
by the new and co-ordinated by the 
Information Governance team. 
 
The review is complete delivering savings of 
around £380k per annum  

 
Work is underway and the strategy is due for 
completion in 2020. 
A shared legal service agreement is being 
delivered ensuring value for money, business 
continuity and resilience. 
 
This will take place in June 2020 
 
The programme has been fully specified and 
tendered and is currently being evaluated and 
is due to commence in June 2020. 
 
 
A Member training programme was 
established. 
A new Memberszone was developed on the 
intranet providing a source of information for 
our Councillors. 

Page 32



 
OUR PRIORITIES: ORGANISATION PRIORITIES

Tamworth Borough Council21

     Priority       Key Actions/Deliverables 2019/22       What we have done so far

3.To ensure  
our service 
delivery is 
consistent, clear, 
and focused 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.To ensure our 
decisions are 
driven by 
evidence and 
knowledge

4Development of a Communication Strategy 
that reinforces public expectation of 
transparency and accountability from the 
Council 

 

 
 

4Delivery and approval of the Tamworth 
Community Offer 

 

4Work collaboratively with our partners to 
maximise our effectiveness and support 
vulnerable people and communities 

 

 

 

 

 

4Review our data sets and collate into one data 
repository 

 
 
 

4Creation of a data/insight resource 
 

4Make full use of available customer insight and 
resident feedback to inform our decisions 

A working group has been established and the 
strategy is scheduled for 2020/21. 
Privacy statements have been reviewed and 
updated, 
An Information Assets Register is being 
compiled. 
 
Scheduled for 2020/21 & 2021/22 
 
 
Work continues with the probationary service to 
support the Community Payback Scheme 
A Partnership Co-ordination group has been 
established 
A shared Close Circuit Television service with 
the West Midlands Combined Authority is being 
developed and will commence in April 2020. 
 
 
Work on the development of a ‘Golden’ 
customer record is underway. 
Work has started with the Land Registry to fully 
map all Council owned land 
 
This is scheduled for 2020/21 & 2021/22 
 
Primary routines in the new Customer Portal 
were based on high level demand areas

Page 33



22

Designed and produced by  

Tamworth Borough Council,  
Marmion House,  
Lichfield Street,  
Tamworth,  
Staffordshire  
B79 7BZ 

Tel: 01827 709709 
Email: enquiries@tamworth.gov.uk 
Website: www.tamworth.gov.uk

TAMWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL  
CORPORATE PLAN 2019-2022 (UPDATE 2020)

To provide feedback specifically on the form and content of this Corporate Plan update,  
email john-day@tamworth.gov.uk. 
 
For more information about Tamworth Borough Council visit our website: www.tamworth.gov.uk  
 
Tamworth Borough Council 
Marmion House 
Lichfield Street 
Tamworth 
B79 7BZ 
 
Email – enquiries@tamworth.gov.uk 

CONTACT US

Page 34



 

CABINET 

THURSDAY 19TH MARCH 2020 

REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

ADOPTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL HOLOCAUST REMEMBRANCE 

ALLIANCE (IHRA) DEFINITION OF ANTISEMITISM 

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

None 

PURPOSE 

To consider the adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance 

(IHRA) definition of Anti-Semitism 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that Members approve: 

1. The adoption of International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance non-legally 

binding working definition of anti-Semitism:-  

“Anti-Semitism is a certain perception of Jews, which may be expressed as 

hatred towards Jews. Rhetorical and physical manifestations of anti-semitism 

are directed towards Jewish or non-Jewish individuals and/or their property, 

towards Jewish community institutions and religious facilities”  

2. That the Council’s Diversity and Equality Policy and Statement be updated to 

include the definition in the next scheduled revision    

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Council has received a request from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 

Local Government to consider the adoption of the definition of anti-Semitism as 

agreed by the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance. The definition has 

already been adopted by the Government to demonstrate that anti-Semitic behaviour 

will not be tolerated. The Government recognises that local councils have a valuable 

role to play in tackling all forms of hate crime.    

Whilst the definition is not legally binding all councils have been requested to 

formally adopt the definition and use it on all appropriate occasions. It is considered 

to be a useful tool for public authorities to understand how anti-Semitism can 

manifest itself. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



The IHRA identifies that anti-Semitism may take a number of forms in contemporary 

society which include –  

 Making stereotypical or dehumanizing allegations about Jews  

 Calling for, aiding or justifying the killing or harming of Jews 

 Holding Jews collectively responsible for the actions of the state of Israel 

 Using symbols and images associated with anti-Semitism 

 Criminal acts are anti-Semitism when the targets of the attack, whether 

people or property are selected because they are, or are perceived to be 

Jewish or linked to Jews. 

 Anti-Semitic discrimination is the denial to Jews of opportunities or services 

available to others 

The full working definition can be found at 

https://www.holocaustremembrance.com/working-definition-antisemitism 

OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not to adopt the definition 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Budget /Resource – there are no direct implications    

LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS 

Relevant Legislation - The Equality Act 2010 sets out the duty to give people from 

different groups, with identified Protected Characteristics, consistent rights and 

protection. 

The Protected Characteristics covered under the duty are: 

 Race 

 Gender 

 Disability 

 Age 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and civil partnership 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Religion or belief 

 Sexual orientation 

There is a reputational risk should the Council not respond to the Government’s 

request to adopt the definition. 

 

 

Page 36



SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 

The Equality and Diversity Policy is updated on a regular basis and the IHRA 

statement will be included in the 2020 review. 

BACKGROUND 

The Council has adopted a Corporate Diversity and Equality Scheme 2015-2019, 

Making Equality Real in Tamworth (MERIT) with the following commitments: 

 To ensure that the Council does not discriminate against staff or members of 

the public. 

 To work to make Tamworth a place free from discrimination. 

 To make people are proud to be who they are. 

 To ensure that the contribution of all groups is valued. 

 To ensure differences between people are welcomed. 

 To remove barriers to ensure that all groups have the same chances of 

success. 

 To provide services that are inclusive and designed to meet customer needs, 

including those most vulnerable. 

 To support anyone who shares the same aims, including community groups, 

the voluntary sector, trade unions and partner organisations. 

The Policy will be reviewed and updated at the next scheduled revision. 

Information from the 2011 Census showed that there were 7 people within the district 

who stated their religion as Judaism. 

REPORT AUTHOR 

Jo Sands, Assistant Director Partnerships 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Letter from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

APPENDICES 

 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 19 MARCH 2020 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR ASSETS AND FINANCE 
 
 

INSURANCE RENEWAL 2020 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
None 
 
 
PURPOSE 
 
This report is to advise Cabinet of the Authority’s insurance requirements being put 
out to tender and to request the delegation of authority to the Executive Director 
Finance (EDF) to approve the acceptance of the successful submission.  
 
This is a Key Decision as the value of the contract will exceed £100,000 in the 
financial year. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

1. Endorse the contract brief for the procurement of Insurance contracts. 
 

2. Delegate authority to the Executive Director Finance, in consultation with 
the portfolio holder, to appoint the successful insurer and to undertake 
any negotiation with the insurer to finalise the contract. 
 

3. Approve the continual use of the insurance reserves for self-insurance 
liabilities 
 

4. Endorse the Executive Director Finance to use part of any premium 
reductions achieved to maintain funds at an appropriate level to cover 
the potential impact on revenue budgets of increased excesses. 
 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The council last re-marketed the insurance portfolio in 2015 when a long term 
agreement (LTA) for all cover was placed with Zurich Municipal Insurance. 
  
The re-marketing of the insurance is carried out using a risk based approach to 
minimise costs and provide appropriate cover. The process is supported by the use 
of Brokers to ensure we have access to the full market and consider options 
presented by independent market specialists.  

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



 
Insurance is held to protect the assets of the Authority and to mitigate the financial 
impact in any one year of any claims. To minimise the levels of funds used options 
will be reviewed at both current and increased levels of self-insurance by obtaining 
quotes using various levels of excess. Quotes will be requested for 3+2 year and 5 
year periods.  
 
Key areas to note: 
 

 By varying self- insurance levels the premium rates will optimise the total 
amount of funds required for Insurance. 
 

 Increased levels of self-insurance will require Reserves to manage the impact 
of losses incurred over a number of years. 

 

 The claims experience over the last 10 years shows improvements however 
there have been some high value claims on the Casualty policies which could 
generate upward pressure on premium rates. 

 

 To consider terrorism cover requirements. 
 

The insurance portfolio will go to the market via the In-Tend system, with the 
assistance of our brokers and, due to the value of the contract, it will require an 
OJEU notice.  
 
To maximise market interest the insurance portfolio will be presented in 6 lots with 
the bulk of the cover held in lots 1-3, see the Policy Summary in the Appendix to this 
report.  
 
To ensure the Authority can obtain the most advantageous premium rates, and cover 
is in place by the renewal date, 30th September 2020, it is requested that delegated 
powers are given to the EDF to accept the successful Insurance submission.  
 
 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
As previously recognised the use of self-insurance by increasing policy excesses can 
provide savings. The effectiveness of this relies on the relationship between possible 
claims within the excess to annual premium savings. This is achieved by the 
application of effective risk management working practices to reduce the value and 
number of claims.  
 
Self-insurance is used for claims that are relatively small and can provide greater 
local flexibility when handling claims and reduce the ‘pound swapping’ element 
included in insurance premiums. 
 
Options will be requested and reviewed at both current and increased levels of self-
insurance by obtaining quotes using various levels of excess – this will enable us to 
determine the optimum level of self-insurance (excess levels) compared to premiums 
paid. 
 
The Insurance Reserves, currently £371,848, will be reviewed to ensure that they are 
set at a level that will accommodate any increases in excess levels that will provide 
an economic advantage. Any increase required will be funded by reductions in 
premiums, if available, and built up over a number of years. 

Page 40



 
On recent reviews terrorism cover has not been taken, the need for this cover will be 
reviewed in conjunction with our brokers.  
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The current Insurance budget for the next 5 years is £2,721,310. The process 
adopted in this exercise will seek to ensure that this is not exceeded and where 
possible reduced. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
The only mandatory insurance policy required is Fidelity Guarantee. However 
effective Insurance cover enables the adverse cost of risk financing to be spread 
over a number years and thereby reducing the financial impact on revenue funds. 
This will ensure that the Authority is able to deliver the full range of intended services 
during the period. 
 
The use of Insurance is an integral element of the Authority’s Risk Financing 
Strategy.  
 
 
EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
None directly arising from this report, but flooding events like those seen across large 
parts of the UK in recent times are likely to be seen more frequently and extensively 
across the country. Appropriate insurance will help the authority to manage the 
impact should flooding affect any Council property. 
 
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
R Bennett – Operations Accountant  
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers: Cabinet, Insurance Tender 2015, 18/06/15  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

Page 41



Appendix A 
POLICY SUMMARY 
 
Details of expiring covers as below. 
 

 
LOT 

DESCRIPTION INFORMATION/COVER REQUIRED 

Lot 1 - 
Property 

General Properties and 
Housing 
including Theft 

General Properties fire, subterranean fire, 
lightning, explosion (full), aircraft, riot, civil 
commotion, malicious damage, earthquake, 
storm, flood, escape of water, theft and full 
impact 
Housing Properties fire, lightning, explosion 
(full), aircraft, riot, civil commotion, malicious 
Damage, earthquake, storm, flood, escape of 
Water, full impact and subterranean fire 
Deductible Expiring £10,000 / Theft £1,000 

 Business interruption Perils as Material Damage 
Deductible - NIL 

 Money As data provided. Deductible - NIL 

 All Risks As data provided Deductible – variable per items 

 Works In Progress As data provided Contract Limit £1,000,000 
Deductible - £500 subsidence £1,000 

 Industrial and Commercial 
properties 

Fire, lightning, explosion (full), aircraft, riot civil 
commotion, earthquake, storm, flood 
Deductibles storm/flood £100 Malicious 
persons/own vehicle £250 

 Leaseholders Householders comprehensive cover for 
leaseholders building Deductible - NIL  

 Fidelity Guarantee Limits as per data provided. Deductible –  
£5,000 

 Computer Accidental damage including breakdown to 
Computer Suite Equipment whilst at the premises 
Other Computer Equipment  
Deductibles vary per item 

   

Lot 2 
Casualty 

Employers Liability £20M Limit of Liability - Deductible £5,000 

 Public and Products Liability £20M Limit of Liability - Deductible £5,000 

 Officials Indemnity £1M Limit of Liability - Deductible £1,000 

 Public Health £1M Limit of Liability - Deductible £1,000 

 Libel and slander £1M Limit of Liability - Deductible Nil 

 Land charges £5M Limit of Liability - Deductible £1,000 

 Professional Indemnity £1M Limit of Liability – Deductible £5,000 

Lot 3 Motor Comprehensive Deductible £500 

Lot 4 Personal Accident & Travel Deductible Nil 

Lot 5 Engineering insurance and 
inspection 

Deductible £100 

Lot 6 Employment Practices 
Liability 

Limit £100,000 - Deductible Nil 

 
 

Page 42



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 19 MARCH 2020 
 

 
 

REPORT OF THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR REGULATORY & COMMUNITY 
SAFETY 

 
 

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW 
 

 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
None. 
 
 
PURPOSE 
To seek Cabinet approval for a revised approach to the review and subsequent 
preparation a new local plan and for the publication of the Local Plan Review 
document. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Acknowledge that the recommendations set out in this report supersede those  
in the 05 July 2018 Local Plan Review Update Cabinet report 

2. Endorse the conclusions of the Local Plan Review document and approve the 
commencement of work to produce a new local plan  

3. Approve the publication of the Local Plan Review document 
4. Acknowledge that a future report will be brought to Cabinet setting out the 

timescale for the development of a new local plan 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
At the 05 July 2018 Cabinet meeting, members approved the commencement of a 
local plan review with the intention of adopting a new local plan during 2020/21. The 
recommendation to do so was based on an incorrect interpretation of the legislation 
that took the meaning of ‘review’ to include the production of a new plan. The 
subsequently published Local Development Scheme (LDS) set out an ambitious 
timeframe for the production of a new plan. On further consideration of the relevant 
legislation it is clear that the requirement to review the Local Plan within five years of 
adoption does not also include any subsequent changes to the plan. 
 
This report sets out a new, more appropriate approach to the review and subsequent 
changes to the adopted Local Plan and seeks Cabinet approval for both the 
approach and publication of the associated Local Plan Review document attached at 
Appendix 1. It is acknowledged that the timeframe set out in the current LDS is not 
applicable and a new LDS setting out a new timeframe will be presented to Cabinet 
at a later date for approval. 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
1) One option is to continue with the approach previously agreed at the 05 July 2018 
Cabinet meeting. For the reasons set out in background information below, this is no 
longer possible and so an alternative approach is required. 
 
2) The do nothing option would mean not publishing the review document and not 
commencing work on a new local plan. Regulation 10A of the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) requires a local 
planning authority to complete a review of a local plan every five years starting from 
the date of adoption of the plan. This means that a review of the Local Plan would 
need to be completed and published by February 2021 at the latest in order to 
comply with the regulations. It is recognised that this timescale is short in any event. 
 
3) The preferred option is to publish the review document now to ensure compliance 
with the relevant regulations and commence work on a new local plan. Whilst the 
regulations do not require a review to be completed until 2021 at the latest, there are 
a number of triggers for an early review included in the Local Plan. This, along with 
recent changes to national policy, means that now would be an appropriate time to 
complete a review and begin work on producing a new local plan. 
 
 
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The process of evidence gathering and producing a new local plan requires officer 
time and resources as well as external resources to provide expert advice. In 
anticipation of this a policy change request was approved in 2018/19 which increased 
the local development framework budget to £50,000 for 2018/19 and £90,000 for 
2019/20. A further policy change was approved in 2019/20 to increase the budget for 
2020/21 to £115,000 after which it will return to £10,000 per year. Given that work 
has not progressed at the rate expected when the policy changes were made, there 
has been a significant underspend over the period 2018 – 2020. It is therefore 
anticipated that approximately £60,000 will be added to the existing reserve of 
£59,000 at the end of 2019/20 and that this underspend will be carried forward into 
future years. This gives an overall remaining budget of approximately £235,000. 
 
The cost of preparing and adopting the current local plan was approximately 
£257,000 and this cost has been used as the basis for estimating the potential cost of 
a new plan. However, since the current plan was adopted, a number of national 
policy changes have been implemented, particularly in relation to biodiversity and 
climate change, which are likely to require additional evidence leading to an increase 
in overall cost. At the current time the total cost is not known, however it is estimated 
that it would likely be in the region of £300,000. As the additional budget is unlikely to 
be required until at least 2022/23, any additional cost will be dealt with through the 
budget setting process at the appropriate time. 
 
 
LEGAL/RISK IMPLICATIONS BACKGROUND 
 
Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended) was introduced in 2017 and states that a local 
planning authority must complete a review of its local plan every five years starting 
from the date of adoption. This means that the Council must have completed a 

Page 44



review of the adopted Local Plan by the end of February 2021. Whilst there is 
currently no indication of the consequences for not complying with the regulation, not 
doing so would leave the Council exposed to potential risk were such consequences 
to be introduced at a later date. 
 
Having reviewed the plan, it is clear that to varying degrees some of the policies 
contained therein are out of date. Where policies of the plan are considered out of 
date the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the NPPF takes 
effect and they cannot be used in decision making on planning applications. 
Therefore to not ensure the plan is considered up to date runs the risk of having 
decisions on local developments taken without full consideration of local 
circumstances. 
 
 
EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct equalities implications resulting from the proposals set out in this 
report. Any new local plan would be accompanied by an equalities impact 
assessment at each relevant stage that would ensure compliance with the Equality 
Act 2010 and the Council’s own policies on diversity and equality. 
 
 
SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct sustainability implications resulting from the proposals set out in 
this report. Any new local plan would be required to be in accordance with the 
policies contained within the National Planning Policy Framework which has 
sustainability at its core. Any new plan would also be accompanied by a sustainability 
appraisal that would consider the potential sustainability implications at an 
appropriate stage. 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION   
 
At the 05 July 2018 meeting, Cabinet approved the recommendations contained 
within the report of the Portfolio Holder for Heritage and Growth on the Tamworth 
Local Plan Review Update. There are two areas within this report that require further 
clarification. Firstly the report introduced two conflicting recommendations that sought 
approval not to undertake an early review of the Local Plan and also to commence a 
review of the Local Plan with the aim of adopting a new plan in 2020/21. Secondly, 
the regulations governing the requirement to review a plan are ambiguous. 
Terminology used in relation to two slight variations of the word ‘review’ within 
Government legislation and guidance is confusing and led to the previous report 
being unintentionally misleading. 
 
Previously, the word ‘review’ has been used to refer to the process of updating or 
replacing a local plan. For the avoidance of doubt, in this report the word ‘review’ (in 
the context of a local plan review) should, unless otherwise specified, be taken to 
mean an assessment of the Local Plan to establish how it is performing against its 
own objectives and any relevant national policy and guidance. Any subsequent 
changes to the plan following a review would take the form of either an update to the 
existing plan or the development of a new plan. 
 

Page 45



Following on from the resolution of Cabinet on 05 July 2018, a new Local 
Development Scheme (LDS10) setting out a timeframe for work to develop a new 
local plan was drafted and subsequently approved by Cabinet. The timescales set 
out within the document were based on an incorrect interpretation of unclear 
legislation and Government guidance meaning they were overly optimistic and, with 
hindsight, were always likely to be difficult to achieve. 
 
It is now clear that the requirement of the legislation to complete a review of the local 
plan within five years relates only to the definition as set out above and not to the 
interpretation of review used previously that also includes any subsequent 
amendments to the plan or the production of a new plan. It is therefore 
recommended that Cabinet acknowledge that the previous approach was based on 
an incorrect interpretation of the relevant regulations and that the recommendations 
set out in this report supersede those in the 05 July 2018 report. 
 
There is no prescribed format for a local plan review; however, there is guidance 
contained within the national Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) as to the range of 
information and factors which local planning authorities could consider when 
undertaking a review, including: 

 Conformity with national planning policy 
 Changes to local circumstances; such as a change in local housing need 
 Their Housing Delivery Test performance 
 Whether the authority can demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable sites for 

housing 
 Their appeals performance 
 Success of policies against indicators in the Development Plan, as set out in 

their Authority Monitoring Report 
 Plan-making activity by other authorities, such as whether they have identified 

that they are unable to meet all their housing need 
 Significant economic changes that may impact on viability 
 Whether any new social, environmental or economic priorities may have arise 

 
Once a plan has been reviewed there are three potential outcomes. 
1. It is decided that no changes are required to the plan, and the council publishes a 
statement to that effect setting out the reasons for the decision; 
2. It is decided that some changes are required and work commences on an update 
to the plan; 
3. It is decided that more substantial changes are required and work commences on 
a new plan. 
  
Officers have completed a review of the adopted Local Plan taking account of those 
factors listed above and a report setting out the findings is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
In general the plan is performing well against the targets set out in the monitoring 
framework and decisions on planning applications are rarely being overturned at 
appeal. Where decisions have been overturned these have been on design grounds, 
which is a subjective issue with room for interpretation by an inspector. There have 
however been a number of changes to national policy since the plan was adopted 
that have an impact on the policies contained within it. These relate to a variety of 
issues which are considered by Government to be of national importance, such as 
climate change mitigation and biodiversity enhancement, as well as the introduction 
of a standard method for establishing housing need. It is also clear that the town 
centre policies do not reflect current ambitions. 
 

Page 46



It is therefore considered that a number of policies within the adopted Plan are in 
need of changes to ensure compliance with national policy. The review has also 
demonstrated that a number of the policies may benefit from updating as a result of 
new evidence. This particularly relates to policies around housing numbers and mix 
as well as Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople provision where new 
evidence has recently been procured. There are also a number of policies which it is 
considered would benefit from minor amendments to the wording that would not in 
themselves justify an update to the plan but could be implemented as part of wider 
changes. 
 
Taking into account the impact of changes to national policy along with the more 
minor amendments that would be beneficial to the plan; it is considered that changes 
are required to the existing plan. In reality there is not a significant difference 
between an update to the plan and the production of a new plan as both options 
would require updated evidence to be gathered and an examination in public. Given 
the scale of change in the town centre and the importance of that in meeting Council 
priorities, it is recommended that a new local plan is prepared rather than a partial 
amendment. This is further supported in the knowledge that the current Local Plan 
looks back as well as forward. A new Local Plan can truly start again and only look 
forwards. 
 
It is therefore recommended that Cabinet endorse the conclusions of the Local Plan 
Review and approve the commencement of work on a new local plan. It is also 
recommended that Cabinet approve the publication of the Local Plan Review 
document in order to demonstrate compliance with the requirements set out in 
Regulation 10A to complete a review within five years of adoption. 
 
For the reasons set out above, the timescales set out in the current published LDS 
(LDS 10) are no longer accurate and require updating. In order to ensure that a 
revised LDS sets out a more realistic timeframe, further work is required to establish 
more accurately what that might be. It is therefore proposed to bring a revised LDS 
before Cabinet for approval later in 2020. 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
 
Richard Powell - Planning Policy and Delivery Officer - ext.274 
Corinne O’Hare - Planning Policy and Delivery Officer - ext.278  
Anna Miller - Assistant Director – Growth and Regeneration - ext.276 
 
 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Heritage and Growth – 05 July 2018 Cabinet – 
Tamworth Local Plan Review Update. 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Local Plan Review 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

  

 

Review of the Tamworth 

Borough Council Local 

Plan 2006-2031 
 

March 2020 

Page 49



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

i 
Version 0.7 

Review of the Tamworth Local Plan 

Executive summary 

The Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan was adopted in 2016 and runs to 2031. 

Legislation introduced in 2018 requires local development documents to be reviewed 

every five years starting from the date of adoption, meaning a review of the Local 

Plan would need to be completed by February 2021 in order to comply with the 

legislation. Since the adoption of the Plan however, updates to national planning 

policy and a change in priorities at a local level mean that now is an appropriate time 

to review the Plan. 

 

The review follows national Planning Practice Guidance advice in establishing 

whether the Plan remains in compliance with national policy and how the policies are 

performing against targets in the monitoring framework. Each of the policies is rated 

red, amber, yellow or green based on the extent of any changes required. The 

review finds that 7 policies require significant changes, while a further 13 require 

some form of modification or minor alteration and 11 do not require any changes at 

this time. It is therefore concluded that the level of changes required are significant 

enough to warrant the production of a new plan rather than a partial update to the 

existing Plan. 

  

Page 50



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

ii 
Version 0.7 

Contents 
Executive summary .................................................................................................. i 

Introduction ............................................................................................................. 1 

Legislation, policy and guidance governing plan reviews ........................................ 1 

Format of the review ............................................................................................... 2 

Revised National Planning Policy Framework – February 2019 ............................. 3 

Changes to Local Housing Need ............................................................................ 4 

Housing Delivery Test performance ........................................................................ 5 

Five year supply of deliverable sites for housing ..................................................... 5 

Strategic policies need to look ahead for minimum of 15 years .............................. 6 

Appeals performance .............................................................................................. 6 

Success of policies against indicators in the Development Plan ............................. 6 

Plan-making activity by other authorities ................................................................. 6 

Significant economic changes that may impact on viability ..................................... 7 

Social, environmental or economic priority changes ............................................... 8 

Detailed assessment of policies .............................................................................. 8 

Conclusions .......................................................................................................... 57 

 

Page 51



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

1 
Version 0.7 

Introduction 

The Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 (“the Plan”) was adopted by 

Full Council on the 23rd February 2016. The Plan forms part of the Council’s 

statutory development plan and sets the overall spatial strategy for the borough of 

Tamworth for the period 2006 to 2031 (commonly referred to as the “plan period”). 

Just over half of the plan period has elapsed so far. 

 

As described in Chapters 1 and 2 of the Plan, the document contains a spatial 

portrait and vision for the borough, setting out key characteristics of the area and 

identifies the strategic issues and challenges the Plan seeks to address. The vision 

results in a set of 12 priorities which are set out in relation to the key themes to which 

they relate. Following on from the vision and strategic spatial priorities a series of 

policy chapters set out how the spatial vision and priorities will be achieved in 

practical terms: 

 

Chapter 3: A Spatial Strategy for Tamworth 

Chapter 4: A Prosperous Town 

Chapter 5: Strong and Vibrant Neighbourhoods 

Chapter 6: A High Quality Environment 

Chapter 7: A Sustainable Town 

 

The Plan was prepared in accordance with relevant legislation (as confirmed in the 

Local Plan Inspector’s report) and was therefore found to be legally compliant. The 

Plan was also deemed “sound” subject to a number of main modifications, when 

assessed against national policy which was in force at the time of the examination 

(the 2012 National Planning Policy Framework). 

 

Legislation, policy and guidance governing plan reviews 

As a result of an amendment to the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) which came into force on 6 April 

2018, local planning authorities are now required to review local development 

documents within specified time periods. In respect of a local plan Regulation 10A 

(1)(a) requires that a review must be completed every five years, starting with the 

date of adoption. This means that a review of the Plan must be completed by 23rd 

February 2021 in order to comply with the statutory obligations.  

The requirement to review local plans at least every five years is also taken forward 

in the 2019 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), notably paragraphs 31 to 

33. This advises that: 

 Policies in local plans should be reviewed to assess whether they need 

updating at least once every five years and should then be updated as 

necessary. 

Page 52



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

2 
Version 0.7 

 Reviews should be completed no later than five years from the adoption date 

of the plan and should take into account changing circumstances affecting the 

area or any relevant changes in national policy  

 The preparation and review of all policies should be underpinned by relevant 

and up to date evidence. 

 

It is important to note that a plan “does not become out-of-date automatically after 5 

years”1 and also that there is a clear distinction between a review of a plan, and an 

update or modification to it. The regulations2 require a review but whether, having 

conducted the review, an update is required, is a matter of judgment for the Council. 

The NPPF makes this distinction clear by confirming that “policies in local plans 

should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating”3, demonstrating that a 

new or updated plan might not always be required. It is also clear that the purpose of 

a review is not to continually change the strategic decisions and direction of growth 

in the borough, which would undermine the clear intention in the NPPF for strategic 

policies to “anticipate and respond to long-term requirements and opportunities”4. 

The guidance sets out that a local planning authority should complete the review and 

decide either: 

 

- That their policies do not need updating and publish their reasons for this 

decision; or 

- That one or more policies do need updating, and update their Local 

Development Scheme to set out the timetable for this revision. 

 

Format of the review 

There is no prescribed format for a review; however, there is guidance within the 

PPG as to how they should be undertaken. The PPG advises, “the review process is 

a method to ensure that a plan and the policies within remains effective”3. It is 

therefore clear that a fundamental part of the review process should be to assess 

whether, based on the evidence, the plan continues to be effective in delivering upon 

the objectives set out. 

The PPG also provides guidance as to the range of information and factors which 

local planning authorities can consider when undertaking a review, including: 

 

- Conformity with national planning policy 

- Changes to local circumstances; such as a change in local housing need 

- Their Housing Delivery Test performance 

                                                           
1
 Paragraph 064 Planning Practice Guidance 

2
 Specifically Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

Regulations 2012 (as amended) 
3
 Paragraph 33, National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

4
 Paragraph 22 National Planning Policy Framework 2019 

Page 53



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

3 
Version 0.7 

- Whether the authority can demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable sites for 

housing 

- Their appeals performance 

- Success of policies against indicators in the Development Plan, as set out in 

their Authority Monitoring Report 

- Plan-making activity by other authorities, such as whether they have identified 

that they are unable to meet all their housing need 

- Significant economic changes that may impact on viability 

- Whether any new social, environmental or economic priorities may have 

arisen5 

 

This list of factors has been used as the basis for the review of the Local Plan and 

each is considered in more detail below. 

 

Revised National Planning Policy Framework – February 2019 

Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the Government has published a revised 

version of the NPPF (February 2019). A summary of the key changes in the 2019 

NPPF is included below. 

 

- Introduction of a standard methodology for calculating local housing need, 

replacing the old approach of “objectively assessed needs” 

- Expectation for at least 10% of housing to be accommodated on 

small/medium sized sites (up to 1 hectare) 

- Expectation for at least 10% of housing on major developments to be 

available for affordable home ownership, except in specific circumstances 

- Changes to the calculation of five year supply for strategic policies over five 

years old and to reflect the introduction of the Housing Delivery Test 

- Greater encouragement for diversification of town centres to respond to 

changes in the retail and leisure industry. 

- Strengthened focus on making as much use as possible of brownfield and 

previously developed land and for making efficient use of land by maximising 

densities, particularly in areas where there is an anticipated shortage in land 

to meet identified housing needs. This includes maximising densities in town 

centres and considering use of minimum density standards. 

- Renewed focus on design quality to achieve well-designed places 

- Continued strong protection of the Green Belt, along with a clear expectation 

that all other reasonable options for meeting development needs must be 

examined before concluding that exceptional circumstances exist to justify 

changes to the Green Belt.  

- Changes to protections on habitats and biodiversity, including strengthening 

of protections of irreplaceable habitats (including ancient woodland) and 

                                                           
5
 Paragraph 065 Planning Practice Guidance 

Page 54



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

4 
Version 0.7 

clarity over the approach to developments which may impact upon sites 

protected under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

 

As the Local Plan was examined against the policies contained within the 2012 

NPPF, an assessment of the extent to which these changes affect the policies in the 

Plan is included later in this document. 

 

It should also be noted that, since the Local Plan was adopted, wider planning 

reforms have also taken place, particularly in relation to expansion and liberalisation 

of permitted development rights to support housing delivery, and diversification and 

vitality of town centres and other retail areas. This includes making permanent office 

to residential permitted development rights, and additional rights relating to changes 

of use of retail premises. 

 

Changes to Local Housing Need 

In 2019 the Government introduced a new standard methodology for calculating 

local housing need. The standard method takes a baseline household growth 

projection (for a ten year period, converted into an annual housing need), which is 

then adjusted for affordability at a district level. If the calculated need using the 

standard methodology is greater than the need in the adopted local plan (if adopted 

within the past 5 years) any increase is capped to 40% above the previously 

assessed need. 

 

A significant change in local housing need from that specified in the Local Plan may 

necessitate a change to one or more policies to ensure that the need is able to be 

met. For Tamworth the housing need calculated with the standard methodology is 

150 dwellings per annum. The current adopted Local Plan objectively assessed need 

was calculated at 250 dwellings per annum, with 177 dwellings per annum to be 

delivered within Tamworth and the remainder being delivered by neighbouring 

authorities (Lichfield District and North Warwickshire Borough). 

 

The standard method provides a minimum target and local planning authorities can 

plan for growth. As the existing Local Plan target is higher than the need as 

calculated using the standard method, it would not normally lead to a requirement to 

update the plan. However, the adopted housing requirement includes 1,825 

dwellings that are unable to be delivered within Tamworth. The Statement of 

Common Ground (SoCG) between the Council, Lichfield District Council (LDC) and 

North Warwickshire Borough Council (NWBC) includes an agreement that, should 

evidence suggest that Tamworth’s objectively assessed housing need has changed, 

the unmet need to be delivered by LDC and NWBC will be adjusted through either a 

review of the Local Plan or an updated SoCG as appropriate. 

 

Page 55



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

5 
Version 0.7 

Housing Delivery Test performance  

In 2018 the Government published the Housing Delivery Test Measurement Rule 

Book6.  The Housing Delivery Test is a percentage measurement of the net number 

of homes delivered against the number of homes required for the area over a rolling 

three year period. In 2018’s measurement (table 1 below) Tamworth’s test result was 

86% i.e. only 86% of housing need for the three year period was delivered. The 

Government expect planning authorities to deliver 95% or more of their housing 

requirement and Tamworth fell short of that in 2018. However, the recently released 

2019 results (table 2 below) show that delivery for the period was 169% of need. 

 

Table 1: 

 
2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 totals 

HDT % 
2018 

Homes 
required 

177 173 90 440 
86% 

Homes 
delivered 

66 160 151 377 

 

Table 2: 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 totals 
HDT % 
2019 

Homes 
required 

173 90 108 371 

169% 
Homes 

delivered 
160 151 317 628 

 

As can be seen from the tables above, the delivery of homes in Tamworth 

significantly increased in 2018/19 and will continue to be at a high level for some 

years, as all three large developments are on site and completing homes. 

 

Five year supply of deliverable sites for housing  

Paragraph 73 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should ‘identify and 

update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum 

of five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement set out in adopted 

strategic policies, or against their local housing need where the strategic policies are 

more than five years old’ (the five year supply).  

The importance of the five year supply is underlined by paragraph 11 and footnote 7 

of the NPPF which states that the presumption in favour of sustainable development 

applies where the relevant development plan policies are out of date, and this 

includes where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites. As of April 2019, the supply of housing land in Tamworth 

                                                           
6
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book 

 

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-delivery-test-measurement-rule-book


 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

6 
Version 0.7 

amounts to 8.6 years. More information can be found on the monitoring pages of the 

Council’s website at https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/monitoring  

 

Strategic policies need to look ahead for minimum of 15 years 

The NPPF paragraph 22 states “Strategic Policies should look ahead over a 

minimum 15 year period from adoption, to anticipate and respond to long-term 

requirements and opportunities, such as those arising from major improvements in 

infrastructure.”  The current Local Plan runs until 2031. Should it be concluded 

through the review process that strategic policies need amending then the plan end 

date would be required to be extended to ensure that, at adoption, the policies cover 

the minimum 15 year period. 

 

Appeals performance  

Between April 2016 and March 2019 there were 21 appeals against refusal of 

planning permission, 15 of which were dismissed and 6 upheld. The upheld appeals 

all relate to policy EN5 (Design of New Development), although the reasons for 

refusal are varied including insufficient parking, loss of amenity for existing residents, 

and impact on the character and appearance of the Coventry Canal. 

 

This could be an indication that policy EN5 requires updating; however, as the 

inspector for one of the successful appeals acknowledged, design is often a 

subjective issue. The recent publication of the Council’s Design Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) may also reduce the number of appeals that are lost on 

design grounds as it provides further guidance on the interpretation of policy EN5. 

 

Success of policies against indicators in the Development Plan 

The success of the policies against the indicators set out in Appendix D of the 

adopted Local Plan has been considered and is set out later in the document. 

 

Plan-making activity by other authorities   

In the current adopted Local Plan Tamworth could not meet its objectively assessed 

housing or employment need within the borough boundary, so unmet need would be 

delivered by the neighbouring authorities (LDC and NWBC). The quantum of unmet 

need to be delivered by each authority on behalf of Tamworth was agreed in a 

Statement of Common Ground (SoCG), signed by all parties in September 2018.  In 

the SOCG Lichfield agreed to take 912 dwellings and 6.5Ha of employment land 

whilst North Warwickshire agreed to take 913 dwellings and 14Ha of employment 

land, through allocations or existing permissions. 

 

NWBC’s local plan is currently at examination and LDC have recently begun work on 

a new local plan to replace their core strategy and recently adopted local plan 

Page 57

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/monitoring


 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

7 
Version 0.7 

allocation document. There are no concerns currently that anything within the 

neighbouring authorities’ proposed plans would impact on Tamworth to such an 

extent that changes would be required to the Local Plan. 

 

Tamworth sits within the Greater Birmingham Housing Market Area (HMA). It is 

acknowledged that the HMA has a significant shortfall of dwellings, with the majority 

arising from Birmingham’s unmet need. A 2015 report by PBA put this shortfall at 

37,540 although the subsequent Strategic Growth Study by GL Hearn in 2018 put 

the shortfall at 28,150 and the most recent HMA position statement saw the 

estimated shortfall further reduced to 10,696. It should be noted however that this 

number does not fully take account of any shortfall arising from the Black Country 

authorities. 

 

A number of the other council’s within the HMA have sought to provide a contribution 

towards the unmet need through their local plans, however Tamworth has not been 

in a position to do so as a result of having an unmet need of its own. Given the 

existing development constraints within Tamworth’s border, it is unlikely that a 

significant contribution to the HMA shortfall could be made and so this is not 

considered to have a significant influence on the need to make changes to the Plan 

at this time.  

 

Significant economic changes that may impact on viability 

There are no known economic changes that will significantly impact on viability, 

although the potential economic impacts of Brexit are unclear at this time. The recent 

HEDNA indicates that the economy in Tamworth is expected to grow by 0.8% per 

annum (GVA growth pa) between 2017 and 2036, although the total number of jobs 

growth forecast is -1,900 which equates to an annual growth rate of -0.3%. This is 

broadly in line with national forecasts which show a slower level of growth compared 

to the previous business cycle. 

 

The Whole Plan Viability, Affordable Housing and CIL Study that supported the 

adoption of the current Local Plan suggested that most residential development 

would be viable but schemes of one and two dwellings would be marginal in terms of 

viability. The report also indicated that most speculative non-residential development 

would struggle to achieve viability (with the exception of out of centre retail) and that 

most development would come forward as a result of the needs of specific users. 

This assessment of viability influenced the development of the adopted Plan and 

there is therefore nothing to indicate at this time that the viability of the adopted plan 

would be at risk. 

 

Page 58



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

8 
Version 0.7 

Social, environmental or economic priority changes 

Since adoption of the Local Plan in 2016 the Council has continued to be proactive in 

regenerating the borough, with a specific focus on the town centre. The Enterprise 

Quarter regeneration is nearing completion with the thriving Enterprise Centre fully 

let and the historic Assembly Rooms open after a multimillion pound refurbishment. 

The Gungate project, which will bring a range of uses including residential and 

leisure to the town, is being masterplanned. In addition to these regeneration 

schemes the council is putting together a funding bid to the Future High Streets 

Fund, which if successful should breathe new life into the very centre of the town. 

 

This drive to change the structure and offering in the town centre, by regeneration 

and  innovation offers an opportunity to change and strengthen policies in the Local 

Plan that can proactively help these projects through to their completion. 

   

On a national level there is a focus and new legislation on topics such as climate 

change, biodiversity and providing homes for all, all of which are opportunities for 

Tamworth to introduce new policies or amend existing ones to be proactive and 

assist with the sustainable growth of the borough. 

 

Detailed assessment of policies 

For each policy of the adopted Local Plan, an assessment has been made as to its 

compliance with national policy, its performance against the objectives of the 

monitoring framework and whether any other relevant local evidence has impacted 

on the effectiveness of the policy. A conclusion is then reached as to whether the 

policy requires updating/replacing, minor modification, or no change. Each policy is 

graded Red, Amber, yellow or Green, due to the significance of the changes required 

(Red - significant changes required; Amber – modifications required; Yellow – would 

benefit from minor modifications; and Green - no change required). A summary of 

the policies that have been included in each category is provided in table 3 below. 

 

Table 3: Summary table of policy assessment 

Changes are 
required (7) 

EC1 -  Hierarchy of Centres for Town 
Centre Uses 
EC3 - Primary and Secondary Frontages  
EC6 - Sustainable Economic Growth 
EC7 – Strategic Employment Areas 
HG4 – Affordable Housing 
EN4 – Protecting and Enhancing 
Biodiversity 
SU3 – Climate Change Mitigation 

Not compliant with updated 
national policy. 
 

Modifications 
required (2) 

EC2 – Supporting Investment in the Town 
Centre 
EC4 – Supporting Investment in Local and 
Neighbourhood Centres 

Broadly compliant with 
national policy but local 
circumstances have 
changed. 

Would benefit SS1 – The Spatial Strategy for Tamworth Broadly compliant with 

Page 59



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

9 
Version 0.7 

from minor 
alterations (11) 

HG1 – Housing 
HG2 – Sustainable Urban Extensions 
HG3 – Regeneration Priority Areas 
HG5 – Housing Mix 
HG7 – Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople 
EN3 – Open Space and Green and Blue 
Links 
EN5 – Design of New Development 
SU1 – Sustainable Transport Network 
SU2 – Delivering Sustainable Transport 
EMP7 – Working from Home (saved policy) 

national and local policy but 
would benefit from updating 
due to revised evidence 
base or need to revise the 
evidence base. 

No changes 
currently 
required (11) 

SS2 – Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development 
EC5 – Culture and Tourism 
HG6 – Housing Density 
EN1 – Landscape Character 
EN2 – Green Belt 
EN6 – Protecting the Historic Environment 
SU4 – Flood Risk and Water Management 
SU5 – Pollution, Ground Conditions and 
Minerals and Soils 
SU6 – Community Facilities 
SU7 – Sport and Recreation 
IM1 – Infrastructure and Developer 
Contributions 

No changes required. 

 

 

Page 60



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

10 
Version 0.7 

 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

SS1 
The Spatial 
Strategy for 
Tamworth 

Policy SS1 sets the 
strategic objectives for 
the plan period (2006 – 
2031) including: 

 A minimum of 4,425 
new dwellings at 177 
per year 

 A minimum of 1,825 
new dwellings to meet 
Tamworth’s need 
delivered within 
Lichfield District and 
North Warwickshire 
Borough 

 Delivery of 18ha of 
employment land 
within Tamworth 

 Delivery of at least 
14ha of employment 
land to meet 
Tamworth’s need to be 
delivered in Lichfield 
and/or North 
Warwickshire 

 Delivery of 7,800sqm 
of new comparison 
retail floorspace and 
2,900sqm of new 
convenience retail 

The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) states: 
 
Strategic policies should set 
out an overall strategy for 
the pattern, scale and quality 
of development, and make 
sufficient provision for: 
a) housing (including 
affordable housing), 
employment, retail, leisure 
and other commercial 
development; 
b) infrastructure for 
transport, 
telecommunications, 
security, waste 
management, water supply, 
wastewater, flood risk and 
coastal change 
management, and the 
provision of minerals and 
energy (including heat); 
c) community facilities (such 
as health, education and 
cultural infrastructure); and 
d) conservation and 
enhancement of the natural, 
built and historic 

Local Plan monitoring 
Monitoring for the specific delivery 
targets is recorded alongside the 
relevant policy below. 
 
Other relevant information 
At the time of adoption of the plan, a 
Memorandum of Understanding was 
in place with Lichfield District Council 
(LDC) and North Warwickshire 
Borough Council (NWBC) to deliver 
1,000 of Tamworth’s 1,825 unmet 
housing need within the their areas. 
 
In September 2018 the three councils 
agreed a Statement of Common 
Ground that included for the provision 
of the additional 825 dwellings and 
14ha of employment land within the 
administrative areas of LDC and 
NWBC through existing permissions 
and the development of their new 
local plans. 

The policy remains 
broadly in line with 
the NPPF in that it 
sets the overall 
strategy for the area 
over the plan 
period. However 
there are now fewer 
than 15 years 
remaining of the 
plan period and so 
any update to the 
strategic policies 
would require an 
extension to the end 
date of the plan to 
ensure that the 
policies cover the 
minimum timeframe 
set out in the NPPF. 
 
The Plan was 
adopted in February 
2016 and much of 
the supporting 
evidence is older 
still. Recent updates 
to a number of key 
pieces of evidence 

P
age 61



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

11 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

floorspace between 
2021 and 2031 

 Retaining and 
strengthening existing 
Green Belt 

 Retaining and 
enhancing existing 
open space and the 
provision of new open 
space where 
appropriate 

 Provision of a new 
urban park in the east 
of Tamworth 

 Retaining and 
enhancing the existing 
sports and leisure 
facilities including the 
provision of a new 
multi-purpose 
community sports 
centre 

 Retaining and 
enhancing the existing 
network of green and 
blue linkages 

 Protecting and 
enhancing the historic 
environment. 

 

environment, including 
landscapes and green 
infrastructure, and planning 
measures to address climate 
change mitigation and 
adaptation. 
 
Plans should make explicit 
which policies are strategic 
policies. These should be 
limited to those necessary to 
address the strategic 
priorities of the area (and 
any relevant cross-boundary 
issues), to provide a clear 
starting point for any 
nonstrategic policies that are 
needed. Strategic policies 
should not extend to detailed 
matters that are more 
appropriately dealt with 
through neighbourhood 
plans or other non-strategic 
policies. 
 
Strategic policies should 
look ahead over a minimum 
15 year period from 
adoption, to anticipate and 
respond to long-term 

suggest that the 
strategic policies 
may need revising 
to better respond to 
Tamworth’s needs. 
Where new 
evidence is 
available it has 
been included in the 
relevant section 
below. 

P
age 62



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

12 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

The policy contains a 
trigger for a potential 
early review of the plan if 
it has not been possible 
to secure allocations in a 
local plan or planning 
permission(s) within 
Lichfield and North 
Warwickshire to account 
for Tamworth’s unmet 
housing need by the end 
of the year 2017/18. 

requirements and 
opportunities, such as those 
arising from major 
improvements in 
infrastructure. 
 
Policy SS1 is broadly in 
accordance with the NPPF 
as it sets the strategic 
objectives of the Plan over 
the period to 2031. Further 
detail relating to each of the 
objectives is included within 
other policies of the Plan. 

SS2 
Presumption in 
Favour of 
Sustainable 
Development 

Planning applications 
that accord with the 
policies in the Local Plan 
will be approved without 
delay, unless material 
considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

The NPPF contains at its 
heart a presumption in 
favour of sustainable 
development. This is carried 
forward into the policy which 
can therefore be considered 
complaint with national 
planning policy. 

Local Plan monitoring 
Between April 2016 and March 2019 
there have been 21 appeals against 
refusal of planning permission of 
which 15 were dismissed and only 6 
were upheld. The upheld appeals all 
related to policy EN5 (Design of New 
Development), although the reasons 
for refusal are varied including 
insufficient parking, loss of amenity 
for existing residents, and impact on 
the character and appearance of the 
Coventry Canal. 
 
This could be an indication that policy 
EN5 requires updating; however, as 

The presumption in 
favour of 
sustainable 
development still 
forms a key part of 
national policy and 
so policy SS2 is still 
relevant in that 
respect. The small 
number of refusals 
of planning 
permission being 
overturned at 
appeal suggests 
that the approach 
set out within policy 

P
age 63



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

13 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

the inspector for one of the 
successful appeals acknowledged, 
design is often a subjective issue. 
The recent publication of the 
Council’s design Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) may also 
reduce the number of appeals that 
are lost on design grounds as it 
provides further guidance on 
interpretation of policy EN5.  

SS2 is working 
effectively and that 
applications are 
generally only being 
refused where the 
presumption in 
favour does not 
apply. 

EC1 
Hierarchy of 
Centres for 
Town Centre 
Uses 

‘Main town centre uses’ 
and other uses which 
attract visiting members 
of the public should 
follow the hierarchy: 
 
1st – Tamworth town 
centre 
2nd – Network of 
existing local centres 
3rd – Network of existing 
neighbourhood centres 
 
Uses outside of centres 
described above must 
demonstrate: 
a) Compliance with 
sequential test 
b) Good accessibility by 
walking, cycling and 

The NPPF states: “Planning 
policies and decisions 
should support the role that 
town centres play at the 
heart of local communities, 
by taking a positive 
approach to their growth, 
management and 
adaptation.”  
 
This includes: 

 defining a network and 
hierarchy of town centres 
and promoting their long-
term vitality and viability – 
by allowing them to 
respond to changes in the 
retail and leisure 
industries; 

 defining the extent of town 

Local Plan monitoring 
Between April 2016 and March 2019 
there were 32 planning permissions 
granted for uses that could be 
considered ‘main town centre uses’. 
These were distributed across the 
hierarchy as follows: 

 Town centre – 15 (47%) 

 Local centres – 1 (3%) 

 Neighbourhood centres – 1 (3%) 

 Out of centre – 15 (47%) 
 
By floorspace permitted, this equates 
to: 

 Town centre – 1,845sqm (10%) 

 Local centres – 60sqm (0.3%) 

 Neighbourhood centres 94sqm 
(1%) 

 Out of centre – 16,208sqm (89%) 
 

Policy EC1 is in 
broad compliance 
with the provisions 
in the NPPF, 
however, the policy 
has not been 
performing as 
originally intended 
as nearly 90% of 
retail floorspace has 
been delivered in 
out of centre 
locations.  Further 
evidence base work 
should be carried 
out to ascertain the 
level of retail 
required. 

P
age 64



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

14 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

public transport 
c) No adverse impact on 
vitality and viability of 
other existing centres 
d) Will not prejudice the 
delivery of other 
strategic objectives. 

centres and primary 
shopping areas, and 
making clear the range of 
uses permitted in such 
locations; 

 retaining and enhancing 
existing markets; 

 allocating a range of 
suitable sites in town 
centres to meet 
anticipated needs for 
retail, leisure, office and 
other main town centre 
uses over a period of at 
least ten years; and 

 keeping town centre 
boundaries under review. 

 
The policy is therefore still in 
broad compliance with the 
NPPF. 

The monitoring framework sets a 
target of 90% of main town centre 
uses floorspace to be delivered within 
hierarchy. As a result of a small 
number of large developments in the 
out of centre retail areas, only 11% of 
main town centre uses floorspace 
has been delivered in line with the 
hierarchy. 
 
Local Plan monitoring shows that the 
policy has not worked as originally 
intended since adoption of the plan.  
Further work is required on an 
updated retail study to look at the 
need for retail floorspace in the 
borough.  In addition work is being 
carried out in the Council on the re-
structuring of the town centre offer.  
This work is ongoing. 

EC2 
Supporting 
Investment in 
Tamworth 
Town Centre 

The town centre will be 
the preferred location for 
development of town 
centre uses along with 
higher density, high 
quality residential 
development. 
 
The Gungate 

As stated in relation to EC1 
(above), the NPPF places 
town centres at the heart of 
local communities and 
requires local authorities to 
promote their long-term 
vitality and viability by 
allocating a range of suitable 
sites in town centres to meet 

Local Plan monitoring 
See Gungate information below.  The 
additional floorspace required over 
and above Gungate is needed after 
2021 so no monitoring data is 
available as yet. 
 
Gungate Redevelopment Scheme 
There is an extant permission for the 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with the NPPF 
however, as with 
policy EC1 above 
updated evidence is 
required.  This 
coupled with 
ongoing work with 

P
age 65



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

15 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

Redevelopment Scheme 
will deliver 20,660 sqm 
of comparison retail 
goods floorspace to be 
completed by 2021. 
Other town centre uses 
will be permitted within 
this scheme (in 
accordance with policy 
EC3) and residential 
permitted in upper floors. 
 
If substantial progress 
has not been made 
towards securing the 
Gungate scheme by 
2020/21, the Council will 
review its retail 
requirement and 
consider the potential for 
retail development on 
other sites in 
accordance with policy 
EC1. 
 
After 2021, in addition to 
the Gungate scheme, 
permission will be 
granted for 7,800 sqm of 
comparison and 2,900 

the scale and type of 
development likely to be 
needed. 
 
The Local Plan does not 
allocate any sites within the 
town centre for any specific 
purpose other than housing 
allocations and the broad 
shopping area. However, at 
the time the Plan was 
adopted, the Gungate 
scheme had planning 
permission for 20,660sqm of 
retail floorspace. 
 
Policy EC2 is also consistent 
with the NPPF requirement 
for planning policies to retain 
and enhance existing 
markets. 

delivery on the Gungate site of up to 
20,660 sqm of commercial floorspace 
including retail [Use Class A1], food 
& drink [A3/A4] & leisure [D2] uses 
with provision for up to 732 car 
parking spaces. Permission was 
granted in May 2017 and expires in 
May 2020 however, since the 
permission was granted, the Council 
has taken control of the Gungate site 
and is currently exploring potential 
development options. 

Gungate may 
necessitate an 
update to the policy. 

P
age 66



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

16 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

sqm of convenience 
goods floorspace along 
with leisure, tourism, 
cultural and office 
development. 
 
The outdoor street 
markets should be 
protected and enhanced. 

EC3 
Primary and 
Secondary 
Frontages 

The shopping area, 
defined on the Policies 
Map town centre inset, 
identifies the primary 
and secondary frontages 
areas. 
 
Within the primary 
frontages area, the 
policy requires that 75% 
of units should fall within 
the A1 (retail) use class. 
 
Within secondary 
frontages, the policy 
supports uses that result 
in active ground floors or 
promote the evening 
economy. 

The requirement to define 
primary and secondary 
frontages, and set policies 
relating to the use within 
each, was included in the 
2012 version of the NPPF. 
The 2019 NPPF removes 
this requirement in favour of 
a more flexible approach 
that can “respond to rapid 
changes in the retail and 
leisure industries”. 
 
The policy would therefore 
appear to be overly 
restrictive in the context of 
the revised NPPF and may 
require changes to allow for 
a greater degree of flexibility 
to comply with the policies of 
the NPPF. 

Over the primary shopping area the 
following uses were recorded 
(January 2019): 

 A1 – 65% 

 A2 – 4% 

 A3/A4/A5 – 6% 

 Other uses – 5% 

 Vacant – 20% 
 
The monitoring shows that only 65% 
of units occupied are for A1 retail 
use. 20% of units in the primary 
shopping area were vacant however, 
and many of these would have extant 
A1 use permission, which could 
increase the overall percentage of A1 
use.  
 
Going forward with changes to the 
NPPF the policy will need to be more 
adaptable to accommodate a greater 

The requirement to 
define primary and 
secondary frontage 
areas within the 
town centre is no 
longer included in 
national policy, 
which instead 
focusses on 
increasing flexibility 
to respond to rapid 
changes in the retail 
and leisure 
industries. 
 
This policy is 
therefore no longer 
in accordance with 
national policy and 
requires either 
updating to 

P
age 67



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

17 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

degree of flexibility of uses with the 
town centre as a whole. 

encourage greater 
flexibility, or 
removing entirely. 

EC4 
Supporting 
Investment in 
Local and 
Neighbourhood 
Centres 

Proposals that enhance 
the vitality and viability of 
local and neighbourhood 
centres will be 
supported. These 
include higher density 
residential development 
and improvements to 
existing housing 
provision. 
 
Local centres and 
neighbourhood centres 
are suitable for retail, 
leisure, employment 
uses, services and 
community facilities 
serving local needs. 
 
Within local and 
neighbourhood centres 
the loss of A1 (retail) 
uses will only be 
supported where: 

 at least one of the 
remaining units acts as 
a general convenience 

The policy is in broad 
compliance with the NPPF 
as it supports the hierarchy 
of defined networks of town 
centres as required by 
paragraph 85 and supports 
their long-term vitality and 
viability by allowing them to 
grow and diversify. 
 

The network and extent of local and 
neighbourhood centres was mapped 
for the Local Plan and a description 
of each centre detailed in tables 4.1 
and 4.2 of the Plan. A comparison of 
the changes to local centres over an 
eleven year period (2008 figures 
versus 2019) shows that overall the 9 
local centres have lost 1 unit. Most 
notably the centres overall have lost 
4 A1 (retail other) uses and gained 7 
A3, A4 and A5 (food, drink and 
takeaways) uses. In the Caledonian 
Local Centre (LC4), for example, 
there has been a loss of A1 retail and 
sui generis (4 units) being replaced 
by 4 A3, A4 or A5 units. 
 
Within the neighbourhood centres 
there has been no net loss of units.  
There has been a shift from A3, A4 
and A5 uses to Sui generis (typically 
nail salons and tanning salons). The 
Kerria Centre (NC4) is currently 
closed due to redevelopment of the 
area.   
 

The policy remains 
in broad compliance 
with the NPPF. The 
Local and 
Neighbourhood 
Centres are 
functioning as 
amenity centres 
with shopping and 
services provided in 
each one. 
It would be 
beneficial, however, 
to reassess and 
map the centres to 
more accurately 
reflect the situation 
on the ground. 

P
age 68



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

18 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

store; 

 the new use is 
compatible with the 
retail character of the 
centre or directly 
serves the needs of 
the local community; 
and 

 the new use would not 
undermine the function 
and vitality of the 
centre. 

 
New development or 
proposed changes of 
use should maintain or 
enhance the range of 
uses available. 

Overall the Local and Neighbourhood 
Centres still contain a mix of uses 
serving local needs but monitoring for 
longer term trends should continue. 

EC5 
Culture and 
Tourism 

Planning applications 
which deliver a vibrant 
cultural and tourism 
economy which will help 
improve the quality of life 
of residents and visitors 
will be supported. 
 
The Council will work 
with partner agencies 
and organisations to 
safeguard existing 

The NPPF considers culture 
and tourism attractions and 
activities to be main town 
centre uses and as such 
should be supported and 
planned for on a town centre 
first basis.   

Since adoption of the Local Plan 
much work has been done in 
Tamworth to improve the culture and 
tourism offer in the town. Large, free 
events continue to be provided such 
as the St Georges day, fireworks 
evening and Christmas lights switch 
on. The Council were successful in 
winning Heritage Lottery Funding for 
both the Castle and Assembly 
Rooms in recent years with the 
Assembly Rooms opening its doors 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with the NPPF, 
however it could 
benefit from being 
updated to reflect 
the changing nature 
of culture and 
tourism in the 
borough and the 
projects being 
undertaken to 

P
age 69



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

19 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

facilities and support 
proposals for a diverse 
range of additional 
tourism, cultural and 
leisure facilities. 

to customers in early 2020 after a 
four year restoration. 
 
Current and future projects and 
partnership working on diversifying 
the offer in the town centre will 
improve the overall quantity and 
quality of culture and tourism in the 
borough. 

safeguard and 
improve existing 
attractions and 
create new 
opportunities. 

EC6 
Sustainable 
Economic 
Growth 

Sustainable economic 
growth will be delivered 
through protecting and 
enhancing the existing 
network of strategic 
employment areas, 
promoting the role of the 
town centre, and 
providing at least 18 
hectares of new 
employment land by 
2031.  
 
Eight sites, as shown on 
the Policies Map have 
been allocated for 
employment 
development. 
  
Development proposals 
for the employment 

The NPPF states that 
strategic policies should set 
out an overall strategy for 
the pattern, scale and quality 
of development, and make 
sufficient provision for 
housing, employment, retail, 
leisure and other commercial 
development. 
 
Planning policies should: 

 set out a clear economic 
vision and strategy which 
positively and proactively 
encourages sustainable 
economic growth, having 
regard to Local Industrial 
Strategies and other local 
policies for economic 
development and 
regeneration; 

EMP1 Land South of the 
A5,Bitterscote South 
Permission for half of the area 
0055/2018 Mercedes – Not 
Commenced. Sui Generis. 9.8Ha. 
EMP2 Cardinal Point 
BMW Sytner car showroom 
Permission 0004/2014. Sui Generis.  
1.45Ha. 
EMP7 North of Bonehill Road 
Not yet permitted. 0.7Ha 
EMP8 Land Adjacent to Relay Park 
Not yet permitted. 2.84Ha 
EMP9 Land Adjacent to Centurion 
Park 
No yet permitted. 0.74Ha 
EMP10/30/34 Vacant land and car 
park off Sandy Way 
Not yet Permitted. 1.64Ha 
EMP26 Land Adjacent to Sandy Hill 
Business Park 

Although the policy 
is performing well in 
relation to delivery 
of development on 
the allocated 
employment sites, 
all of the permitted 
developments up to 
31 March 2019 
have been for uses 
outside of B1(b,c), 
B2, B8. Although 
this is not strictly in 
accordance with the 
wording of the 
policy, it is in 
accordance with the 
policies of the 
NPPF. Therefore, 
going forward, 
policy EC6 will 

P
age 70



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

20 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

allocation sites should 
comply with the other 
policies in the Local 
Plan. 
 
Proposals for new 
employment 
development outside of 
an allocated 
employment site or 
strategic employment 
area will be supported, 
provided that the 
proposed employment 
development: 

 Is accessible to public 
transport 

 Would be compatible 
with its surrounding 
uses and would not 
have an adverse 
impact on the 
amenities and 
character of the 
surrounding area. 

 Is supported by 
necessary 
infrastructure 

 Meets the 
requirements of other 

 set criteria, or identify 
strategic sites, for local 
and inward investment to 
match the strategy and to 
meet anticipated needs 
over the plan period; 

 seek to address potential 
barriers to investment, 
such as inadequate 
infrastructure, services or 
housing, or a poor 
environment; and 

 be flexible enough to 
accommodate needs not 
anticipated in the plan, 
allow for new and flexible 
working practices (such as 
live-work 
accommodation), and to 
enable a rapid response to 
changes in economic 
circumstances. 

 
The adopted policy allocates 
sites to provide 18ha of 
employment development 
towards meeting anticipated 
need over the plan period in 
accordance with the NPPF. 
However the policy, as it is 

Not yet Permitted. 0.95Ha 
EMP33 Site of Bonehill Road 
Car Showroom Mini Permission 
0052/2014. Sui Generis. 0.57Ha 
 
As of 31st March 2019 11.82Ha of 
land has been permitted for 
employment uses on the allocated 
sites, which equates to 66% of the 
assessed need.  
 

require amendment 
to bring it in line 
with the policies of 
the NPPF. 

P
age 71



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

21 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

policies in the Local 
Plan where 
applicable. 

currently worded, seeks to 
restrict development on 
these sites to B1(b,c), B2 
and B8 uses which does not 
allow the flexibility to 
respond to changes in 
economic circumstances 
required by the NPPF. 

EC7 
Strategic 
Employment 
Areas 

The aim of this policy is 
to protect existing 
employment and support 
the expansion of 
businesses in existing 
employment areas in 
Tamworth. Non B1(b, c), 
B2 and B8 uses in these 
areas will need to 
demonstrate that: 
The site is no longer 
attractive to the market 
for its existing use; there 
are no other suitable 
locations available; there 
are good sustainable 
transport links and there 
will be no adverse 
impact on the existing 
strategic employment 
areas before any 
application is supported.   

This policy aims to address 
Strategic Spatial Priorities 
SP3 and SP12 in the Local 
Plan, which are in broad 
compliance with the NPPF.  
In particular paragraphs 80-
82 in that it supports and 
protects existing and 
proposed employment land 
in existing sustainable 
locations. 
 
Where the policy is not 
entirely in compliance with 
the NPPF is the requirement 
in paragraph 81 d) to be 
flexible enough to 
accommodate needs not 
anticipated in the plan, allow 
for new and flexible working 
practices, and to enable a 
rapid response to changes in 

Local Plan monitoring 
Since adoption of the plan and up 
until 31st March 2019 there have 
been 16 applications in the existing 
strategic employment areas, 13 of 
which were for B1(b,c), B2 and B8 
uses, which equates to 81% of 
applications. 

The policy is in 
general compliance 
with the NPPF but it 
does not specifically 
include the flexibility 
that paragraph 81 
d) affords.  

P
age 72



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

22 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

 
The existing network of 
strategic employment 
areas comprises of the 
following; 
• Bitterscote (Bonehill 
Road, Cardinal Point, 
Bitterscote South) 
• Tame Valley 
Employment Area 
(Hedging Lane, Two 
Gates, Tame Valley 
Industrial Estate) 
• Amington Employment 
Area 
• Lichfield Road 
Employment Area 
• Centurion Park 
Employment Area 
• Relay Park 
Employment Area 
 

economic circumstances. 
 
Where a use outside of 
B1(b,c), B2 or B8 is 
proposed, the policy 
contains requirements 
including the need to have 
marketed the property 
unsuccessfully for a period 
of 12 months and evidence 
that no alternative sites are 
available. These 
requirements could be 
considered not sufficiently 
flexible to fully comply with 
the policies of the NPPF. 

HG1 
Housing 

A net increase of 4,425 
dwellings at an average 
of 177 units per annum. 
 
At least 2,358 to be 
provided within SUEs. 
 
Additional units should 

The NPPF 2019 states: “To 
determine the minimum 
number of homes needed, 
strategic policies should be 
informed by a local housing 
need assessment, 
conducted using the 
standard method in national 

Local Plan monitoring  
By the end of the 2018/19 monitoring 
year 2,170 dwellings (net) had been 
delivered against a target of 2,301 
(based on 177 per annum since April 
2006). This leaves a net deficit of 131 
dwellings.  

 

The current housing 
target was derived 
from a housing 
needs assessment 
carried out prior to 
the introduction of 
the standard 
method and, as 

P
age 73



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

23 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

be delivered within the 
sites identified on the 
Proposals Map. 

planning guidance – unless 
exceptional circumstances 
justify an alternative 
approach which also reflects 
current and future 
demographic trends and 
market signals.” 
 
The existing Objectively 
Assessed Housing Need 
(OAN) was established prior 
to the introduction of the 
standard method and is 
therefore not entirely in 
accordance with national 
policy. 
 
The NPPF also requires that 
planning policies should 
identify a sufficient supply 
and mix of sites, taking into 
account their availability, 
suitability and likely 
economic viability. Policies 
should also identify a supply 
of: 
 

 specific, deliverable sites 
for years one to five of the 
plan period; and 

Since the adoption of the plan in 
2016, annual net completions have 
been as follows: 
2016/17 - 162 
2017/18 - 151 
2018/19 – 317 
 
The first two years saw net delivery 
below the Local Plan target of 177, 
however gross delivery was above 
the target for 2017/18 and the net 
only fell below due to a high level of 
demolitions relating to estate 
regeneration. As a result of 
commenced developments and 
current extant permissions, it is 
anticipated that delivery will remain 
above the 177 per annum target until 
at least 2027. 
 
All three of the SUE sites now have 
either outline consent or full planning 
permission for a combined total of 
2,435 dwellings. Further details on 
the SUE sites are included under 
policy HG2 below. 
 
With the exception of Whitley Avenue 
(site 358), all of the allocated housing 
sites that have secured planning 

shown by the latest 
evidence, using the 
standard method 
results in a housing 
requirement that is 
below the level set 
out in the current 
plan. 
 
The standard 
method provides a 
minimum target and 
so, as the existing 
target is higher, it 
would not normally 
lead to a 
requirement to 
update the plan. 
However, the 
adopted housing 
requirement 
includes 1,825 
dwellings that are 
unable to be 
delivered within 
Tamworth. The 
Statement of 
Common Ground 
(SoCG) between 
the Council, LDC 

P
age 74



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

24 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

 specific, developable sites 
or broad locations for 
growth, for years 6-10 
and, where possible, for 
years 11-15 of the plan. 

 
The adopted plan allocates 
sufficient sites to provide 
3,080 dwellings over the 
plan period. However an 
updated SHLAA is required 
to ensure that the sites still 
meet the requirement of 
being available, suitable and 
viable. 

permission so far have met the 
anticipated capacity. On review, it 
appears that the 35 dwellings set out 
in the original housing trajectory for 
the Whitley Avenue site was too high 
and the 21 dwellings permitted (and 
subsequently built) was a more 
realistic capacity based on the criteria 
set out in policy HG6 and taking into 
account the shape of the site. 
 
Evidence 
In 2019 the council, jointly with 
Lichfield District Council, 
commissioned a Housing and 
Economic Development Needs 
Assessment (HEDNA). The HEDNA 
looked at various aspects of housing 
need including calculating 
Tamworth’s housing need using the 
standard method. Using the standard 
method, it was calculated that for the 
period 2019 – 2029 the minimum 
requirement would be 150 dwellings 
per annum. 

and NWBC includes 
an agreement that, 
should evidence 
suggest that 
Tamworth’s 
objectively 
assessed housing 
need has changed, 
the unmet need to 
be delivered by 
LDC and NWBC will 
be adjusted through 
either a review of 
the Local Plan or an 
updated SoCG as 
appropriate. 
 
Therefore, whilst 
the policy remains 
in broad compliance 
with the provisions 
of the NPPF, the 
policy could be 
updated to better 
reflect the most 
recent evidence. 

HG2 
Sustainable 
Urban 
Extensions 

The policy sets out the 
requirements for the 
sustainable delivery of 
the three urban 

The NPPF states that the 
supply of large numbers of 
new homes can often be 
best achieved through 

Local Plan monitoring 
All three SUEs now have planning 
permission, at least in outline, for the 
anticipated capacity and works have 

As all three SUEs 
now have at least 
outline planning 
permission, and 

P
age 75



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

25 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

extension sites including 
the provision of new 
infrastructure where 
appropriate. 

planning for larger scale 
development, such as 
extensions to existing 
villages and towns, provided 
they are well located and 
designed, and supported by 
the necessary infrastructure 
and facilities. 
 
The policy contains a list of 
the infrastructure required on 
each of the three SUE sites 
in order to make the 
development sustainable. 
 
The NPPF goes on to state 
that the delivery of large 
scale developments may 
need to extend beyond an 
individual plan period. 
Anticipated rates of delivery 
and infrastructure 
requirements should, 
therefore, be kept under 
review and reflected as 
policies are updated. 

commenced on all three sites. 
 
Anker Valley – Full planning 
permission for 535 dwellings with a 
primary school and convenience 
store to be provided on site. 
 
Dunstall Lane – Outline consent for 
up to 800 dwellings with reserved 
matters approval for 405. A new 
primary school and convenience 
store are to be provided as part of the 
development. 
 
Golf course – Outline consent for 
1,100 dwellings with reserved 
matters approval for 730. A new 
primary school, local centre and 
community woodland are to be 
provided on site. 

development has 
commenced on all 
of the sites, the 
policy appears to be 
functioning well and 
would not trigger 
the need for an 
update to the Plan. 
However, any 
update to the Plan 
would necessitate a 
change to the policy 
as the majority of 
the elements within 
it would no longer 
be relevant going 
forward. In order to 
remain in 
compliance with 
national policy, 
infrastructure 
requirements 
should be kept 
under review to 
ensure they are 
carried forward into 
any updated policy 
as appropriate. 

HG3 
Regeneration 

Regeneration of the post 
war planned 

The NPPF states that 
planning policies and 

Post war planned neighbourhoods 
Permission has been granted for the 

The policy remains 
in broad compliance 

P
age 76



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

26 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

Priority Areas neighbourhoods and 
Wilnecote regeneration 
corridor. 

decisions should consider 
the social, economic and 
environmental benefits of 
estate regeneration. Local 
planning authorities should 
use their planning powers to 
help deliver estate 
regeneration to a high 
standard. 
 
The policy aims to drive 
environmental, social and 
economic renewal of a 
number of specific areas and 
estates within the borough 
and provides a framework 
for doing so. 

comprehensive redevelopment of two 
Council owned housing estates at 
Kerria and Tinkers Green, both of 
which are within a regeneration 
priority area. These two areas have 
started construction and are due to 
complete in 2020. 
 
Wilnecote Regeneration Corridor 
No significant applications have been 
received for development within the 
regeneration corridor.   
 

with the NPPF but 
would benefit from 
updating to reflect 
the current situation 
in Tamworth and 
progress with some 
redevelopment 
projects at Kerria 
and Tinkers Green. 

HG4 
Affordable 
Housing 

The provision of at least 
1,000 affordable housing 
units over the plan 
period at an average of 
40 per annum. 
 
a) 20% affordable 

dwellings on site for 
new residential 
development 
involving 10 or more 
dwellings 

b) 25% affordable 

Following publication of the 
Written Ministerial Statement 
(WMS) of 28 November 
2014 setting a threshold of 
10 units or 1,000sqm before 
which affordable housing 
should not be sought, a 
Cabinet decision (29 
September 2016) 
determined that little weight 
should be assigned to part c) 
of the policy and part a) for 
any developments of fewer 

Local Plan monitoring 
The policy sets a target of a minimum 
of 40 affordable dwellings per year. 
Over the three years since the plan 
was adopted, delivery has been as 
follows: 
2016/17 - 44 
2017/18 - 101 
2018/19 - 77 
 
Over the same time period, all 
developments of 10 or more 
dwellings that were granted planning 

The policy appears 
to be performing 
well in respect of 
ensuring a minimum 
level of affordable 
housing is provided 
on sites of 10 or 
more dwellings. The 
wording of the 
policy would 
however benefit 
from a revision to 
make it clear that 

P
age 77



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

27 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

dwellings on the 
allocated sites at 
Land North of Coton 
Lane and Dunstall 
Lane 

c) Financial contribution 
equivalent to 20% on-
site provision on new 
residential 
development of 3 to 9 
dwellings 

d) On site provision of 
25% Intermediate 
Tenure and 75% 
Rented split between 
Social Rented and 
Affordable Rented 

e) A range of sizes of 
dwellings to meet 
local requirements 

f) A range of dwellings 
to meet the needs of 
older persons, 
persons with 
disabilities and those 
with special needs 
where there is a 
proven need and 
demand 

g) Affordable housing 

than 11 dwellings. 
 
The WMS has since been 
superseded by the new 
NPPF (2019) which states 
that “affordable housing 
should not be sought for 
residential developments 
that are not major 
developments”. In relation to 
residential development 
major development is 
defined as development 
where 10 or more homes will 
be provided. This means 
that part a) of the policy 
remains in accordance with 
national policy and part c) 
still does not. 
 
The new NPPF also 
introduces the requirement 
for at least 10% of dwellings 
on major residential 
developments to be 
available for affordable 
home ownership. This is a 
new requirement as of 2019 
and so is not reflected in the 
current Local Plan policy. 

permission would provide a minimum 
of 18% affordable units and an 
average of 42%. 
 
The sites at Dunstall Lane and land 
north of Coton Lane have both been 
granted permission (at least in 
outline) and are both providing 25% 
affordable units in line with the policy. 
 
There is insufficient evidence 
available to establish what the tenure 
split of the approved affordable 
housing is at this time.  
 
Evidence 
The recent HEDNA assessed the 
need for affordable housing in 
Tamworth and found that there is a 
notable need for affordable dwellings 
in the borough. The analysis 
suggests a need for 170 affordable 
dwellings per annum up to 2036, 
which equates to the entire housing 
need over that period. Whilst it would 
not be viable to require 100% 
affordable housing on the majority of 
sites, an update to the policy would 
allow for the viability of requiring a 
higher proportion of affordable 

the targets for on-
site provision are 
minimum targets 
and developments 
should be expected 
to exceed the 
targets where it is 
viable to do so. 
 
There are also a 
number of elements 
that require revising 
in order to ensure 
that it remains in 
accordance with 
national policy 
including removing 
the requirement for 
financial 
contributions on 
developments of 
fewer than 10 
dwellings and the 
introduction of 
vacant building 
credit. 
 
As the recent 
evidence suggests 
that there is still a 

P
age 78



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

28 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

units will be well 
designed and blend 
in with the rest of the 
development 

 
The NPPF also states “to 
support the re-use of 
brownfield land, where 
vacant buildings are being 
reused or redeveloped, any 
affordable housing 
contribution due should be 
reduced by a proportionate 
amount.” This is not 
currently reflected in policy 
HG4. 
 
There are therefore a 
number of elements of the 
policy that require 
amendment to ensure 
compliance with national 
policy. 

housing to be tested. significant need for 
affordable housing 
within the borough, 
an update to the 
policy would allow 
an opportunity to 
test the viability of a 
higher proportion of 
affordable housing 
to be provided on 
sites of 10 or more 
dwellings. 

HG5 
Housing Mix 

Housing development 
should achieve the 
following mix: 
4% 1-bed units 
42% 2-bed units 
39% 3-bed units 
15% 4 or more bed units 
 
Both affordable and 
market housing should 
be in accordance with 

The policy is in broad 
compliance with the 
provisions of the NPPF, in 
particular paragraph 61 
which requires the size, type 
and tenure of housing 
needed for different groups 
to be assessed and reflected 
in planning policy. 
 
The policy sets out the 

Local Plan monitoring 
Between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 
2019, planning permission was 
granted for the following mix of 
dwellings: 
1-bed – 6% 
2-bed – 36% 
3-bed – 38% 
4-bed+ - 20% 
 
This is against the policy target of 

The policy appears 
to be performing 
well against 
monitoring targets 
and is still broadly in 
accordance with 
national policy. 
However, the recent 
HEDNA suggests 
that there is a slight 
difference in the 

P
age 79



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

29 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

the overall housing mix. 
 
Proposals on sites of 
over 0.4ha should 
demonstrate how the 
proposal will meet the 
population needs of the 
area. 

required mix for housing up 
to 2028 based on evidence 
from the 2012 Southern 
Staffordshire Districts 
Housing Needs Study, and 
the prescribed mix covers 
both market and affordable 
housing. 

4%, 42%, 39% and 15% respectively. 
The permitted developments are 
therefore broadly in accordance with 
the policy target, although there is a 
slight overprovision of 4+ bed 
dwellings and a corresponding under 
provision of 2-bed dwellings. 
 
Evidence 
The recent HEDNA examined the 
potential required housing mix in 
Tamworth up to 2036 based on 
population and household 
projections. The HEDNA indicates a 
potential range for the proportion of 
dwellings by number of bedrooms for 
market housing, affordable home 
ownership and affordable rented. 
 
The outcome suggests that for 
market housing, the requirement 
would be predominantly for 2-bed 
(30-35%) and 3-bed (50-60%) 
dwellings. Affordable home 
ownership would also see a 
requirement for predominantly 2-bed 
(10-20%) and 3-bed (30-40%) 
dwellings with a slightly higher 
proportion of 1-bed (10-20%) than for 
market dwellings (5-10%). 

required mix across 
different housing 
tenures which the 
current policy does 
not account for. 
Therefore, whilst 
there is no pressing 
need to amend the 
policy, an update 
would allow the 
policy to better 
reflect the most 
recent evidence and 
ensure it accurately 
reflects identified 
need. 

P
age 80



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

30 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

 
The evidence suggests that 
affordable rented housing should 
have a slightly different mix with the 
focus predominantly on 1-bed (30-
40%) and 3-bed (35-40%) dwellings 
with a slightly lower proportion of 2-
bed dwellings (15-25%). 
 
The existing policy does not specify a 
housing mix for different tenures and 
states a set percentage, not a range, 
for each size of dwelling. As the 
evidence suggests different mixes 
may be required for different tenures 
of dwelling, a change to the policy 
may be required to better reflect the 
identified needs. 

HG6 
Density 

Within, or in close 
proximity to existing 
centres and the 
Wilnecote Regeneration 
Corridor developments 
should achieve a density 
of at least 40 dwellings 
per ha. 
 
Away from those areas 
developments should 
achieve a density of 

Paragraph 123 of the NPPF 
states that where there is an 
existing or anticipated 
shortage of land for meeting 
identified housing needs, 
planning policies and 
decisions should avoid 
homes being built at low 
densities, and ensure that 
developments make optimal 
use of the potential of each 
site. This includes through 

Local Plan monitoring 
Between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 
2019 66 permissions were granted 
for developments of two or more 
dwellings at an average density of 50 
dwellings per ha. 
 
Of those permissions, 27 were within 
or in close proximity to the town 
centre, a local or neighbourhood 
centre, and 39 were not. 
 

The policy 
continues to comply 
with the NPPF 
requirement to set 
minimum density 
standards, however 
a review of the 
existing densities in 
the town may be 
required to ensure 
that the minimum 
targets remain 

P
age 81



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

31 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

between 30 and 40 
dwellings per ha. 

the application of minimum 
density standards for town 
centres and other areas well 
served by public transport. 
These standards should 
seek a significant uplift in the 
average density of 
residential development 
within the area. 
 
The policy sets a minimum 
density of 40 dwellings per 
ha for sites within or in close 
proximity to the town centre, 
local and neighbourhood 
centres and the Wilnecote 
Regeneration Corridor. In 
other urban areas away from 
these locations, the policy 
sets a minimum density of 
30 to 40 dwelling per ha. 
 
The average density in 
Tamworth at the time the 
Plan was prepared was 
39.45 dwellings per ha; 
however this is boosted by a 
small number of high density 
areas (such as the Balfour 
housing area) whilst a 

Within or close to an existing 
centre 
(Minimum density 40 d/ha) 
20 of 27 permissions (74%) met the 
minimum density requirement with an 
average density of 75 d/ha. 
 
Outside existing centres 
(Minimum density 30 d/ha) 
21 of 39 permissions (54%) met the 
minimum density requirement with an 
average density of 33 d/ha. 
 
The average density of approved 
developments is above the relevant 
minimum densities set out in the 
policy; however a number of smaller 
developments have been permitted 
with densities well below the 
minimum target including some that 
are as low as 6 d/ha. 

above the existing 
average densities. 
 
Monitoring of 
applications granted 
suggests that the 
policy is performing 
fairly well as the 
average density of 
new developments 
is above the 
minimum set out in 
the policy. However, 
a number of smaller 
developments have 
been approved at 
densities well below 
the minimum target, 
and further 
monitoring will be 
required to ensure 
that the majority of 
developments 
remain above the 
minimum 
requirement. 
 
Some changes to 
the wording of the 
policy may be 

P
age 82



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

32 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

significant area of the town 
has densities of below 30 
dwellings per ha. Therefore 
the minimum 40 dwellings 
per ha in more sustainable 
locations, and 30 dwelling 
per ha elsewhere, is 
considered to be complaint 
with the density policies of 
the NPPF. 

required to make it 
clearer, particularly 
to the section that 
states “Away from 
these locations but 
within the urban 
area, a minimum 
density of between 
30 and 40 dwellings 
per hectare” as this 
infers there is a 
maximum density 
which would not be 
NPPF compliant. 

HG7 
Gypsies, 
Travellers and 
Travelling 
Showpeople 

The provision of 1 
residential pitch by 2031. 

The NPPF requires that the 
housing needs of different 
groups should be assessed 
and reflected in planning 
policies, including those of 
travellers, and the Planning 
Policy for Traveller Sites 
(PPTS) sets out the 
Government’s policy in 
relation to such needs. 
 
PPTS states: “Local 
planning authorities should 
set pitch targets for gypsies 
and travellers as defined in 
Annex 1 and plot targets for 

Local Plan monitoring 
No pitches have been delivered to 
date, however the requirement is for 
the plan period and so there is still 
time to deliver the policy objective. 
 
Emerging evidence 
A new Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) 
has been carried out jointly with 
Lichfield District Council and North 
Warwickshire Borough Council 
covering the period 2019 – 2040. The 
GTAA identified no current or future 
need for pitches in Tamworth during 
the assessment period. There is 

The latest evidence 
suggests that there 
is no identified need 
for any pitches to be 
delivered within the 
borough up to 2040. 
As the adopted plan 
seeks to deliver one 
pitch, and there is 
no identified need, 
there is no urgent 
requirement to 
update the policy. 
However, any 
update to the plan 
would allow for a 

P
age 83



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

33 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

travelling showpeople as 
defined in Annex 1 which 
address the likely permanent 
and transit site 
accommodation needs of 
travellers in their area, 
working collaboratively with 
neighbouring local planning 
authorities.” 
 
The joint Lichfield and 
Tamworth Gypsy, Traveller 
and Travelling Showpeople 
Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) was 
produced in 2012 and 
informed the development of 
the policy in terms of the 
targets for pitches and plots. 
Although sufficient to be 
considered in accordance 
with national policy, the 
GTAA was carried out prior 
to the publication of the 
PPTS and so an update will 
be required to ensure 
continued compliance with 
national planning policy.  

therefore no requirement to identify 
appropriate sites for travellers at this 
time. 

revision to the 
policy to reflect the 
latest evidence. 

EN1 
Landscape 

To protect the essential 
characteristics of the 

The NPPF references the 
enhancement and protection 

Tamworth contains two national 
character areas which are defined in 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 

P
age 84



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

34 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

Character wider landscape around 
Tamworth and improve 
areas of lower quality 
that have become 
degraded or suffered 
loss of landscape 
features through past 
activities. To achieve 
this development outside 
the urban area should 
be informed by 
landscape character 
assessments and 
contribute to the 
enhancement, 
restoration or 
regeneration of the 
landscape affected, as 
appropriate. 

of the natural, built and 
historic landscapes in a 
number of chapters.  In 
particular paragraph 170 (a) 
of the NPPF states that 
“Planning policies and 
decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by: a) 
protecting and enhancing 
valued landscapes…”  
Policy EN1 is in broad 
compliance with national 
policy 

the Natural England National 
Character Area Profiles; The 
Mease/Sense Lowlands to the north 
eastern part of the borough and the 
Trent Valley Washlands along the 
western edge of Tamworth.   
The policy requires that there should 
be no net loss of quality of the wider 
landscape around Tamworth.   
All SUE applications included 
landscape character assessments. 

with provisions in 
the NPPF therefore 
does not need 
updating. As part of 
a Local Plan review, 
however, it would 
be advantageous to 
assess the 
Landscape 
character of the 
borough now that 
SUE’s have been 
granted permission. 

EN2 
Green Belt 

Subject to the potential 
review set out below, the 
Green Belt boundary will 
be maintained during 
and beyond the life of 
the plan. 
 
However, if land has not 
been made available to 
meet the balance of 
Tamworth’s housing 

NPPF Chapter 13: 
Protecting Green Belt Land 
sets out the great 
importance of the Green Belt 
to prevent urban sprawl by 
keeping land permanently 
open. The chapter goes on 
to state that once 
established, Green Belt 
boundaries should only be 
altered where exceptional 

Since adoption of the plan only one 
application for residential 
development in the Green Belt has 
been submitted, this was dismissed 
at appeal. The policy is operating well 
with the Green Belt in Tamworth 
largely open, preventing urban 
sprawl. 
 
The Green Belt review in Policy 
EN2:“In the event that land has not 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with provisions in 
the NPPF and the 
early review of 
Green Belt 
boundaries has not 
been triggered 
therefore no update 
is required. It may 
be beneficial, 

P
age 85



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

35 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

need by 2017/18 the 
Council will consider 
reviewing the Green Belt 
boundaries again. 

circumstances are fully 
evidenced and justified, 
through the preparation or 
updating of a plan. 
 
Before concluding that 
exceptional circumstances 
exist to justify changes to 
Green Belt boundaries, the 
strategic policy-making 
authority should be able to 
demonstrate that it has 
examined fully all other 
reasonable options for 
meeting its identified need 
for development. This 
includes discussions with 
neighbouring authorities 
about whether they could 
accommodate some of the 
identified need for 
development, demonstrated 
through a statement of 
common ground. 
 
The existing policy seeks to 
protect the integrity of the 
Green Belt throughout the 
life of the plan and beyond 
as agreements were 

been brought forward to meet the 
balance of Tamworth’s housing and 
employment needs sustainably by 
the end of 2017/18 as set out in 
policy SS1, the Council will consider 
undertaking another review of its 
Green Belt boundaries to reassess 
whether there is a potential land to 
meet these local needs in the second 
half of the plan period” has not been 
triggered as neighbouring authorities 
have agreed to take on the unmet 
need. 
 
 

however, to 
undertake a review 
of the Green Belt as 
part of any Local 
Plan update.  

P
age 86



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

36 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

secured with the 
neighbouring councils of 
Lichfield District and North 
Warwickshire Borough to 
accommodate Tamworth’s 
unmet housing and 
employment land needs. 

EN3 
Open Space 
and Green and 
Blue Links 

All new housing 
development should be 
within 400m of 
accessible high quality 
open space as defined 
in the Open Space 
Review 2012. 
 
New on-site open space 
should be provided 
where this is not the 
case using a standard of 
2.43 hectares per 1,000 
population as a guide. 
 
Where it is not 
appropriate to create 
new on-site open space, 
all new housing 
developments should 
contribute towards 
improving the quality 
and accessibility of 

Part of the social objective of 
the NPPF includes the 
provision of a well-designed 
and safe built environment 
which includes open spaces 
that reflect current and future 
needs and support 
communities’ health, social 
and cultural well-being. 
 
Paragraph 96 of the NPPF 
goes on to state that 
“Access to a network of high 
quality open spaces and 
opportunities for sport and 
physical activity is important 
for the health and well-being 
of communities. Planning 
policies should be based on 
robust and up-to-date 
assessments of the need for 
open space, sport and 
recreation facilities (including 

The last Open Space audit was 
carried out in 2010 and the Open 
Space Review published in 2012, 
which justified setting the current 
open space standard of 2.43Ha per 
1000 population. There are no 
provisions in the policy for the quality 
and location of new on site open 
space, which would be useful in 
negotiations with developers. 
 
Although the policy is titled ‘Open 
Space and Green And Blue Links’ 
there is only one mention of the 
quality and accessibility of them not 
being compromised. 
 
The creation of a new urban park to 
the eastern side of the town can be 
removed as it has been secured via 
the Golf Course SUE planning 
permission. 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with the provisions 
of the NPPF but 
local open spaces 
have not been 
audited for nearly 
10 years. It would 
be beneficial to 
carry out a new 
open space audit 
and update the 
standard as 
necessary. It would 
also be useful to 
update the wording 
of the plan to reflect 
the introduction of 
CIL since adoption 
of the plan.  

P
age 87



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

37 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

nearby off-site open 
spaces. 

quantitative or qualitative 
deficits or surpluses) and 
opportunities for new 
provision. Information gained 
from the assessments 
should be used to determine 
what open space, sport and 
recreational provision is 
needed, which plans should 
then seek to accommodate.” 

EN4 
Protecting and 
Enhancing 
Biodiversity 

To preserve designated 
biodiversity and 
geodiversity sites; 
enhance biodiversity and 
control the loss of 
natural features. 

The current policy expects 
no net loss in biodiversity by 
offsetting. 
NPPF 2019 goes further 
(paragraphs 170, 171, 174 
and 175(a)) in that there is a 
requirement for measurable 
net gains in biodiversity.   
The Environment Bill, due to 
be introduced in 2020 will 
introduce the requirement for 
developers to use a DEFRA 
metric to demonstrate what 
biodiversity is on a site pre 
and post development and 
how they will 
mitigate/provide net gain. 

Tamworth borough does not have 
any internationally important 
designated sites but has sites of 
national and regional importance 
within its boundary. 
  
Since adoption of the plan no 
applications have been granted in 
designated areas including Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest, Sites of 
Biological Importance and Local 
Nature Reserves. 
 
However, since the Plan was 
adopted, national policy and 
guidance has been updated which 
has resulted in the policy not being 
fully NPPF compliant. 

This policy is no 
longer in broad 
compliance with 
provisions in the 
NPPF as now it is a 
requirement for 
developments to 
result in a net gain 
in biodiversity and 
not just offset. 
 
To comply with the 
NPPF the Council 
will need to adopt a 
strategic planning 
approach for an 
ecosystem-based 
and landscape-
based policy.   

EN5 To raise standards of The NPPF makes it clear Between April 2016 and March 2019 The policy is in 

P
age 88



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

38 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

Design of New 
Development 

design throughout the 
town to create more 
inclusive developments 
and mixed communities 
that will improve 
Tamworth's image. 

that creating high quality 
buildings and places is 
fundamental to what 
planning and development 
should achieve. Paragraph 
125 states that plans should, 
at the most appropriate 
level, set out a clear design 
vision and expectations, so 
that applicants have as 
much certainty as possible 
about what is likely to be 
acceptable.   
 
The National Design Guide 
sets out the characteristics 
of well-designed places and 
demonstrates what good 
design means in practice.  
Published in October 2019 
the guide supports 
paragraph 130 of the NPPF 
which states that permission 
should be refused for 
development of poor design 
that fails to take 
opportunities available for 
improving the character and 
quality of an area and the 
way it functions. The guide 

there have been 21 appeals against 
refusal of planning permission of 
which 15 were dismissed and only 6 
were upheld. The upheld appeals all 
related to policy EN5, although the 
reasons for refusal are varied 
including insufficient parking, loss of 
amenity for existing residents, and 
impact on the character and 
appearance of the Coventry Canal. 
 

This could be an indication that policy 
EN5 requires updating; however, as 
the inspector for one of the 
successful appeals acknowledged, 
design is often a subjective issue.  
The recent publication of the 
Council’s Design Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) may also 
reduce the number of appeals that 
are lost on design grounds as it 
provides further guidance on 
interpretation of policy EN5. 
 

broad compliance 
with provisions in 
the NPPF.   
 
Although some 
appeals have been 
upheld relating to 
policy EN5 the 
publication of the 
Design Guide 
should provide 
further guidance on 
the interpretation of 
the policy for 
developers and 
decision makers.   
 
With the publication 
of the National 
Design Guide and 
the WMCA design 
charter soon to be 
published it may be 
an opportunity to 
update the policy to 
reflect national and 
regional guidance. 

P
age 89



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

39 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

sets out and details 10 
measurable good design 
characteristics. 
 
Expected to be published 
early in 2020 is the West 
Midlands Design Charter.  
The Charter will represent a 
regional commitment to 
good place-making and will 
be used to support 
applications for WMCA 
funding for new development 
(including residential, 
commercial and mixed use). 

EN6 
Protecting the 
Historic 
Environment 

To protect, conserve and 
where appropriate 
enhance designated 
heritage assets 
(including conservation 
areas, listed buildings, 
and scheduled 
monuments) and non-
designated heritage 
assets (including locally 
listed buildings and 
undesignated 
archaeology). 

Chapter 16 of the NPPF 
concentrates on conserving 
and enhancing the historic 
environment, from those of 
national significance to those 
of local importance. 
 
Paragraph 185 states: 
“Plans should set out a 
positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment 
of the historic environment, 
including heritage assets 
most at risk through neglect, 
decay or other threats.” 

Local Plan monitoring 
The Historic England Heritage at Risk 
Register for 2016 contained two 
entries for buildings in Tamworth; 
The Moat House, Lichfield Street, 
and Deanery Wall, Lower Gungate. 
The list also contained one 
archaeology entry being the Saxon 
defences. 
 
The Deanery Wall remains on the 
Heritage at Risk Register for 2019, 
however the Moat House is no longer 
included and there have been no 
additional entries onto the list.  

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with the provisions 
of the NPPF.  
It may be beneficial, 
however, to 
undertake a review 
of the policy to 
better reflect the 
different facets of 
the protection of the 
historic environment 
in all its forms and 
to remove 
superfluous 

P
age 90



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

40 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

 
The policy seeks to protect, 
conserve and enhance 
designated heritage assets 
and is therefore broadly in 
compliance with national 
policy. 

information and 
parts that repeat 
national policy. 

SU1 
Sustainable 
Transport 
Network 

The policy aims to 
mitigate the impact of 
development on the 
transport network and 
prioritises travel by more 
sustainable transport 
modes.  
 
Specific objectives 
include: 
a) Provision, by 
addressing barriers and 
missing links, of a joined 
up Tamworth wide cycle 
and pedestrian network - 
which exploits the 
existing green linkages 
railway stations, 
residential areas and 
employment sites - and 
off-road pedestrian and 
cycle routes associated 
with the Central Rivers 

Chapter 9 of the NPPF sets 
out the policies in relation to 
promoting sustainable 
transport and states that 
transport issues should be 
considered at the earliest 
stages of plan-making so 
that potential impacts of 
development on transport 
networks can be assessed 
and opportunities to promote 
walking, cycling and public 
transport use are identified 
and pursued. 
 
With this in mind planning 
policies should: 

 support an appropriate 
mix of uses across an 
area, and within larger 
scale sites, to minimise 
the number and length of 
journeys needed for 

Local Plan monitoring 
Progress on the specific objectives 
listed in the policy is set out below: 
a) Will now be dealt with via the Local 
Cycle and Walking Infrastructure 
Plan which should be published in 
2020. 
b) Improvements have been 
delivered between Ventura Park and 
the Town Centre, and the Town 
Centre and Rail Station. Corporation 
Street/Church Street and St Edithas 
Close will form phase 3 of the 
Gateways Project subject to 
appropriate funding. 
c) No progress to date. 
d) Additional bus services are 
supported by Staffordshire County 
Council where developer or other 
external funding is available. The 
legal agreements associated with the 
three SUEs contain provision for the 
developer to ensure there is 

The policy is 
broadly in 
compliance with the 
NPPF and good 
progress has been 
made towards a 
number of the 
objectives set out 
within the policy. No 
immediate updates 
are therefore 
required, however it 
may be beneficial to 
refresh the list of 
objectives to better 
reflect current 
progress and future 
needs.  

P
age 91



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

41 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

Initiative. 
b) Improved pedestrian 
and cycle linkages, bus 
stops and real time bus 
passenger information 
between Ventura Retail 
Park, Tamworth Town 
Centre and Tamworth 
Railway Station and an 
improved bus 
interchange in the town 
centre for local routes 
within Tamworth and 
inter-urban routes, 
including to Lichfield and 
the West Midlands 
conurbation. Bus stop 
improvements will 
subsequently be 
delivered across 
Tamworth. 
c) Proposals which 
improve the 
attractiveness, 
accessibility and 
passenger capacity of 
both Tamworth and 
Wilnecote Rail Stations 
or which increase the 
frequency of services to 

employment, shopping, 
leisure, education and 
other activities; 

 be prepared with the 
active involvement of local 
highways authorities, 
other transport 
infrastructure providers 
and operators and 
neighbouring councils, so 
that strategies and 
investments for supporting 
sustainable transport and 
development patterns are 
aligned; 

 identify and protect, where 
there is robust evidence, 
sites and routes which 
could be critical in 
developing infrastructure 
to widen transport choice 
and realise opportunities 
for large scale 
development; 

 provide for high quality 
walking and cycling 
networks and supporting 
facilities such as cycle 
parking (drawing on Local 
Cycling and Walking 

appropriate bus service provision to 
the sites. 
e) No progress to date. 
f) A package of traffic management 
interventions was delivered as part of 
pinch point works but further capacity 
and sustainable transport 
enhancements may be required to 
accommodate development. 
g) No progress to date. 
h) No progress to date. 
i) Local highway improvements and 
traffic management measures have 
been secured to support a number of 
larger developments, including works 
to Coton Lane/Comberford Road 
junction to provide left and right turn 
lanes.  

P
age 92



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

42 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

Birmingham, London 
and the North West. 
d) Proposals to support 
bus service extensions 
to the sustainable urban 
extensions. 
e) Improvements to the 
Wilnecote Regeneration 
Corridor to provide traffic 
management, 
environmental and 
highways safety 
measures and increase 
access to Wilnecote 
station. 
f) Improved traffic 
control, junction traffic 
management and 
capacity improvements 
and bus, cycle and 
pedestrian routes on the 
Upper Gungate / 
Aldergate Corridor to 
support development to 
the North of Tamworth. 
g) Following an 
assessment of the 
impacts of any proposed 
development on the 
Strategic Road Network 

Infrastructure Plans). 
 
The policy is broadly in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the NPPF, 
particularly in respect of the 
specific objectives which are 
intended to improve 
pedestrian and cycle 
linkages as well as access to 
other more sustainable 
forms of transport including 
bus services and trains. P

age 93



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

43 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

where required by 
Highways England, 
capacity and safety 
measures at any of the 
following junctions: 
• A5 Mile Oak 
• A5 Ventura Way 
• A5 Marlborough Way 
• A5 Stoneydelph 
• M42 Junction 10 
• M42 Junction 11 
h) Signage or junction 
improvements to 
improve access to 
Drayton Manor Theme 
Park. 
i) Local highway 
improvements and traffic 
management measures 
as required to mitigate 
the impact of 
development traffic. 

SU2 
Delivering 
Sustainable 
Transport 

The policy aims to 
ensure that new 
development is 
accessible by walking, 
cycling and public 
transport and prioritises 
access by these modes 
of transport above the 

As with policy SU1 above, 
chapter 9 of the NPPF 
contains the relevant 
national policy in relation to 
SU2. Paragraph 105 also 
sets out the requirements in 
relation to car parking 
standards and states: 

Local Plan monitoring 
This is a development management 
policy and does not have any specific 
measureable long-term targets. 
Advice is sought on highways safety 
matters from Staffordshire County 
Council as the local highways 
authority on individual applications. 

The policy is 
broadly in 
compliance with the 
requirements of the 
NPPF as it seeks to 
provide pedestrian, 
cycle, and public 
transport links for 

P
age 94



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

44 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

private car. 
 
The policy also aims to 
ensure adequate 
highway safety, suitable 
access for all people and 
where feasible reduce 
the impact of travel upon 
the environment. 
 
The provision of 
appropriate levels of car 
parking and cycle 
storage is also covered 
by policy SU2. In 
considering the level of 
provision regard will be 
had to: 
a) the anticipated 
demand for parking 
arising from the use 
proposed, or other uses 
to which the 
development may be put 
without needing planning 
permission. 
b) the scope for 
encouraging alternative 
means of travel to the 
development that would 

 
If setting local parking 
standards for residential and 
non-residential development, 
policies should take into 
account: 
a) the accessibility of the 
development; 
b) the type, mix and use of 
development; 
c) the availability of and 
opportunities for public 
transport; 
d) local car ownership levels; 
and 
e) the need to ensure an 
adequate provision of 
spaces for charging plug-in 
and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles. 
 
Policy SU2 predominantly 
relates to the assessment of 
planning applications and, 
as such, paragraphs 108 – 
111 of the NPPF apply. 
When considering 
applications for 
development, it should be 
ensured that: 

new developments 
and to prioritise 
these forms of 
transport above the 
private car. 
 
Some changes may 
be required to bring 
the car parking 
standards fully in 
line with national 
policy, particularly in 
relation to providing 
charging points for 
electric vehicles. 
 
The reference to car 
parking standards 
and highways 
safety is also 
included in policy 
EN5 and any 
update would allow 
for the duplication to 
be considered. 

P
age 95



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

45 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

reduce the need for on-
site parking. This will be 
particularly relevant in 
areas well-served by 
public transport. 
c) the impact on highway 
safety from potential on-
street parking and the 
scope for measures to 
increase highway 
capacity. 
d) the need to make 
adequate and 
convenient parking 
provision for people with 
disabilities. 

 appropriate opportunities 
have been/can be taken to 
promote sustainable 
transport modes; 

 safe and suitable access 
to the site can be 
achieved for all users; and 

 any significant impacts 
from the development on 
the transport network (in 
terms of capacity and 
congestion), or on 
highway safety, can be 
cost effectively mitigated 
to an acceptable degree. 

 
Within this context, 
applications should: 

 give priority first to 
pedestrian and cycle 
movements, and second – 
so far as possible – to 
facilitating access to high 
quality public transport; 

 address the needs of 
people with disabilities 
and reduced mobility in 
relation to all modes of 
transport; 

 create places that are 

P
age 96



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

46 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

safe, secure and attractive 
which minimise the scope 
for conflicts between 
pedestrians, cyclists and 
vehicles; 

 allow for the efficient 
delivery of goods, and 
access by service and 
emergency vehicles; and 

 be designed to enable 
charging of plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission 
vehicles in safe, 
accessible and convenient 
locations. 

 
Paragraph 111 also states 
that all developments that 
will generate significant 
amounts of movement 
should be required to 
provide a travel plan, and 
the application should be 
supported by a transport 
statement or transport 
assessment so that the likely 
impacts of the proposal can 
be assessed. 
 
The policy is broadly in 

P
age 97



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

47 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

compliance with the 
requirements of the NPPF 
as it seeks to provide 
pedestrian, cycle, and public 
transport links for new 
developments and to 
prioritise these forms of 
transport above the private 
car. 
 
Some changes may be 
required to bring the car 
parking standards fully in 
line with national policy, 
particularly in relation to 
providing charging points for 
electric vehicles. 

SU3 
Climate 
Change 
Mitigation 

Where appropriate 
developments will be 
expected to demonstrate 
how they will address 
the causes of climate 
change and limit 
greenhouse gas 
emissions with an 
aspiration of achieving 
zero carbon 
development. 

The NPPF sets out how 
local planning can achieve 
sustainable development, 
and encourages local 
authorities to adopt proactive 
strategies to mitigate and 
adapt to climate change, and 
move new development 
towards a low carbon and 
energy efficient future. The 
Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) section on Climate 
Change also includes a 

The Tamworth Climate Change 
Study (2011) and Tamworth Waste 
study (2007) are 8 and 12 years old 
respectively. The Tamworth Waste 
Strategy has been superseded by the 
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent 
Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy 2007-2020. 
  
The Council will be working with 
partner authorities in Staffordshire to 
commission a Climate Change and 
Mitigation study to gather evidence 

The policy is not in 
compliance with 
NPPF. New 
evidence is 
currently being 
gathered to inform 
any amendments to 
the policy. 

P
age 98



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

48 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

number of issues necessary 
for local plans to consider. 
 
A ministerial announcement 
in 2015 proposed changes in 
Building Regulations Part L 
meaning that Local 
Authorities were restricted 
with implementing pre-
existing energy efficiency 
policies in Local Plans, 
however those changes 
were never enacted. 
Updates to the PPG as of 
15th of March 2019 in 
regards to energy efficiency 
have confirmed that local 
planning authorities can set 
higher energy efficiency 
performance standards than 
building regulations part L in 
their local plans. 
 
Paragraph 012 of the 
updated PPG states that: 
 
“Different rules apply to 
residential and none 
residential premises. In their 
development plan policies, 

on how to mitigate the climate 
change effects of development within 
the borough. 

P
age 99



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

49 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

local planning authorities: 
 

 Can set energy 
performance standards 
for new housing or the 
adaptation of buildings to 
provide dwellings, which 
are higher than the 
building regulations, but 
only up to the equivalent 
of Level 4 of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes. 

 Are not restricted or 
limited in setting energy 
performance standards 
above the building 
regulations for non-
housing developments.” 

 
It is also a requirement 
under the Planning Act 2008 
that local development plans 
include policies which 
ensure that they make a 
contribution to both climate 
mitigation and adaption. 

SU4 
Flood Risk and 
Water 
Management 

The policy sets a 
sequential approach to 
proposals for 
development in order to 

Strategic policies should be 
informed by a strategic flood 
risk assessment, and should 
manage flood risk from all 

As part of the validation requirements 
all major applications must be 
submitted with a flood risk 
assessment if located in a flood zone. 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with provisions in 
the NPPF. 

P
age 100



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

50 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

direct it to areas at the 
lowest risk of flooding. 
 
All new development will 
need to demonstrate 
that there is no 
increased risk of flooding 
to existing properties 
and shall seek to 
improve existing flood 
risk management. 
  
All developments will be 
expected to incorporate 
appropriate Sustainable 
Drainage techniques 
and improve water 
quality. 

sources. They should 
consider cumulative impacts 
in, or affecting, local areas 
susceptible to flooding, and 
take account of advice from 
the Environment Agency and 
other relevant flood risk 
management authorities, 
such as lead local flood 
authorities and internal 
drainage boards. 
 
When determining any 
planning applications, local 
planning authorities should 
ensure that flood risk is not 
increased elsewhere. Where 
appropriate, applications 
should be supported by a 
site-specific flood-risk 
assessment. Development 
should only be allowed in 
areas at risk of flooding 
where, in the light of this 
assessment (and the 
sequential and exception 
tests, as applicable) it can 
be demonstrated that: 
a) within the site, the most 
vulnerable development is 

In 2019 a new Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment and Water Cycle Study 
was commissioned with 4 other 
Southern Staffordshire authorities.  
The study will form an important 
element of local plan evidence for all 
authorities and will help guide and 
influence policy making for emerging 
local plans, taking into account 
developments across the area and 
new guidance in the NPPF. 

P
age 101



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

51 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

located in areas of lowest 
flood risk, unless there are 
overriding reasons to prefer 
a different location; 
b) the development is 
appropriately flood resistant 
and resilient; 
c) it incorporates sustainable 
drainage systems, unless 
there is clear evidence that 
this would be inappropriate; 
d) any residual risk can be 
safely managed; and 
e) safe access and escape 
routes are included where 
appropriate, as part of an 
agreed emergency plan. 

SU5 
Pollution, 
Ground 
Conditions and 
Minerals and 
Soils 

To manage the risk of 
existing sources of 
pollution and land 
instability in Tamworth 
and ensure that 
development does not 
result in adverse 
impacts. To ensure that, 
where appropriate and 
practical, mineral 
resources are not 
sterilised by 
development. 

Planning policies and 
decisions should contribute 
to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by 
preventing new and existing 
development from 
contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or 
being adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of soil, 
air, water or noise pollution 
or land instability. 
Development should, 

Where appropriate the Council’s 
Environmental Health team are 
consulted on applications for 
planning permission and decisions 
are informed by their advice. 
 
Where a proposed development is 
within a mineral safeguarding area, 
Staffordshire County Council are 
consulted at the planning application 
stage and decisions are informed by 
their advice. 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with the NPPF. 

P
age 102



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

52 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

wherever possible, help to 
improve local environmental 
conditions such as air and 
water quality, taking into 
account relevant information 
such as river basin 
management plans and 
remediating and mitigating 
despoiled, degraded, 
derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where 
appropriate. 
 
In relation to minerals, the 
NPPF states that 
appropriate policies should 
be adopted so that known 
locations of specific minerals 
resources of local and 
national importance are not 
sterilised by non-mineral 
development. 

SU6 
Community 
Facilities 

To protect and expand 
the network of 
community facilities in 
Tamworth including 
educational and 
healthcare facilities, 
places of worship, sports 
venues, cultural 

The NPPF states that 
strategic policies should 
make sufficient provision for 
community facilities (such as 
health, education and 
cultural infrastructure) and 
that non-strategic policies 
should seek to address the 

All three of the Sustainable Urban 
Extensions (SUE’s) in the Local Plan 
have outline planning permission for 
a school and local centre 
(convenience store). The SUE’s are 
at different stages of completion with 
the furthest progressed, Anker 
Valley, having a convenience store 

This policy is 
broadly compliant 
with provisions in 
the NPPF but other 
policy changes may 
necessitate the 
wording of this 
policy being altered 

P
age 103



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

53 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

buildings, public houses, 
local shops and 
community centres. 

provision of community 
facilities at a local level. 

trading since December 2019. 
 
Staffordshire County Council have 
planned for a new primary school in 
each of the SUEs.  Their schools 
organisation team closely monitor the 
build out of the large sites to 
anticipate when a new school is 
required on each site. The school at 
the former golf course, for example, 
has been delayed until 2024 due to 
adequate places available in nearby 
primary schools for the next 3-4 
years. 

through a local plan 
update. 

SU7 
Sport and 
Recreation 

To support a network of 
good quality sport and 
recreation facilities that 
meet the needs of 
Tamworth’s current and 
future population. 
 
Protecting and 
enhancing existing sport 
and recreational facilities 
meaning they should not 
be built on unless any 
loss is compensated by 
the provision of an equal 
or higher quantity and 
standard of facility. 

The NPPF states that 
planning policies should be 
based on robust and up-to-
date assessments of the 
need for open space, sport 
and recreation facilities 
(including quantitative or 
qualitative deficits or 
surpluses) and opportunities 
for new provision. 
Information gained from the 
assessments should be 
used to determine what 
open space, sport and 
recreational provision is 
needed, which plans should 

The plan is supported by the Joint 
Indoor and Outdoor Sports Strategy, 
which was last updated in 2014. All of 
the SUE’s have contributed towards 
provision of sports facilities in line 
with the Local Plan and the strategy 
either on site or via planning 
obligations agreements.  
Contributions from planning 
obligations have gone towards a new 
4G pitch in Tamworth. 
 
An update to the strategy may be 
required to ensure that the 
requirements contained within it are 
still relevant and up to date. 

The policy is in 
broad compliance 
with the NPPF. The 
evidence base is, 
however, 5 years 
old and would 
benefit from being 
updated in the near 
future to reflect local 
provision and future 
requirements. 

P
age 104



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

54 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

then seek to accommodate. 
 
Existing open space, sports 
and recreational buildings 
and land, including playing 
fields, should not be built on 
unless: 
a) an assessment has been 
undertaken which has 
clearly shown the open 
space, buildings or land to 
be surplus to requirements; 
or 
b) the loss resulting from the 
proposed development 
would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision 
in terms of quantity and 
quality in a suitable location; 
or 
c) the development is for 
alternative sports and 
recreational provision, the 
benefits of which clearly 
outweigh the loss of the 
current or former use. 

 
 

IM1 
Infrastructure 
and Developer 
Contributions 

Planning permission for 
new development will 
only be granted if it is 
supported by 

The NPPF states that 
strategic policies should 
make sufficient provision for 
infrastructure for transport, 

Local Plan monitoring 
Between 01 April 2016 and 31 March 
2019 £6,253,769.50 was secured 
towards the provision or 

The policy is 
considered to be in 
compliance with the 
requirements of the 

P
age 105



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

55 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

appropriate 
infrastructure at a timely 
stage. This includes 
seeking developer 
contributions where the 
needs arise as a result 
of new development and 
specifying the 
infrastructure required in 
the Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan. 

telecommunications, 
security, waste 
management, water supply, 
wastewater, flood risk and 
coastal change 
management, and the 
provision of minerals and 
energy (including heat). 
Non-strategic policies should 
also be used to seek to 
secure the provision of 
infrastructure at a local level. 
 
The policy requires the 
provision of appropriate 
infrastructure to support 
development and is 
supported by the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
which was updated in 
August 2018. The policy is 
therefore considered in 
compliance with the 
requirements of the NPPF. 

enhancement of infrastructure 
through s106 agreements relating to 
granted planning permissions. This 
includes over £4 million towards 
education facilities and £87,750.00 
towards open space. 
 
This income relates to granted 
permissions and so is not guaranteed 
unless the development commences. 
However, during the same period, 
£6,245,257.00 was received as a 
result of previously granted planning 
permissions. The majority of this 
(£4,736,057.00) was paid directly to 
Staffordshire County Council towards 
education infrastructure. 
 
Other relevant information 
The Council adopted a Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in August 
2018. From that point onwards, the 
majority of funding towards relevant 
infrastructure has been secured 
through CIL with the exception of 
significant on-site infrastructure. A 
mechanism for prioritising the 
spending of CIL income is currently 
being drawn up to ensure that it 
contributes effectively to the delivery 

NPPF and appears 
to be performing 
well in respect of 
ensuring 
appropriate 
infrastructure is 
provided to support 
development. 

P
age 106



 Review of the Tamworth Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

56 
Version 0.7 

Policy Objectives Compliance with national 
policy 

Monitoring and local 
circumstances 

Conclusion 

of infrastructure to support the 
objectives of the plan. 

EMP7: 
Working from 
Home (saved 
policy) 

The policy is saved from 
the previous adopted 
plan and seeks to 
impose appropriate 
restrictions on the 
running of a business 
from a residential 
property. 

The NPPF states that 
planning policies should be 
flexible enough to 
accommodate needs not 
anticipated in the plan, allow 
for new and flexible working 
practices (such as live-work  
accommodation), and to 
enable a rapid response to 
changes in economic 
circumstances. 
 
The policy seeks to permit 
business activities within 
dwellings provided that they 
meet conditions intended to 
prevent the use from 
adversely affecting adjacent 
residents and the character 
of the area in general. 
 
The policy is therefore 
considered to be broadly in 
compliance with the 
requirements of the NPPF. 

Local Plan monitoring 
There are no targets within the 
current monitoring framework relating 
to this policy. 
 
Other relevant information 
The purpose of the policy is to limit 
any potential impact of businesses on 
the amenity of residents and the 
character of the area in general. 
There have been five applications for 
changes of use of residential 
properties to incorporate dog 
grooming businesses since 2018. 
 

The policy is saved 
from the previous 
adopted plan and is 
still relevant. 
However it would be 
more appropriate to 
be properly 
incorporated into a 
plan to ensure it 
forms part of a 
coherent 
development plan 
for Tamworth. 

P
age 107



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

57 
Version 0.7 

Conclusions 

This review has been prepared to satisfy the requirements of Regulation 10A of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended).  The review has had due regard to the relevant legislative requirements, 

national policy and the associated Planning Practice Guidance. 

 

In general the plan is performing well against the targets set out in the monitoring 

framework and decisions on planning applications are rarely being overturned at 

appeal. Where decisions have been overturned these have been on design grounds, 

which is a subjective issue with room for interpretation by an inspector. There have 

however been a number of changes to national policy since the plan was adopted 

that have an impact on the policies contained within it. These relate to a variety of 

issues which are considered by Government to be of national importance, such as 

climate change mitigation and biodiversity enhancement, as well as town centre 

regeneration and a standard method for establishing housing need. 

 

Based on the detailed commentary and conclusions in the table above, it is 

considered that a number of policies in the Local Plan require changes to ensure 

compliance with the provisions and policies of the 2019 NPPF and other relevant 

national policies. Although the review demonstrates that many of the policies are 

operating effectively and delivering positively against the requirements of the plan, a 

number of the policies may benefit from updating as a result of new evidence. This 

particularly relates to policies around housing numbers and mix as well as Gypsy, 

Traveller and Travelling Showpeople provision where new evidence has recently 

been procured. 

 

Tamworth can currently demonstrate 8.6 years of housing land supply but towards 

the end of the current plan period delivery rates are expected to tail off once the 

larger sites have been built out. Figure 1 illustrates how the projected housing 

delivery is anticipated to fall below the annual target in 2027/28. 

Page 108



 Review of the Tamworth 
Borough Council Local Plan 2006-2031 

58 
Version 0.7 

 

Figure 1: Housing delivery against Local Plan target 

 

Taking into account the impact of changes to national policy along with the more 

minor amendments that would be beneficial to the plan; it is considered that changes 

are required to the existing plan. Any changes would require the collection of further 

evidence and an examination in public. Paragraph 22 of the NPPF requires that 

strategic policies look ahead over a minimum of 15 years from adoption. As there are 

only 11 years remaining in the current plan period, it is considered that any update 

should include an extension to the plan period. 

 

It is therefore concluded that the Council should commence work on a new Local 

Plan, the timetable for which will be published in a future Local Development 

Scheme.  

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500
N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
d

w
e

lli
n

gs
 

Monitoring year 

Housing delivery against Local Plan yearly target  

Delivery
(actual and
projected)

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 119

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 123

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 125

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 131

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 133

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 135

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 141

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 145

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 149

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 151

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 157

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022 (2020 Update)
	Appendix 1 Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022 (2020 Update)

	7 Adoption of the International Holocaust Remembrance Alliance (IHRA) Definition of Anti-Semitism
	8 Insurance Renewal 2020
	9 Local Plan Review
	Appendix 1 Local Plan Review

	11 Tamworth Borough Council Grant Schemes
	Appendix 1 Q4 Voluntary & Community Grant Applications
	Appendix 2 CHOICES Evaluation
	Appendix 3 Parkinsons Group Evaluation
	Appendix 4 Tameside Evaluation
	Appendix 5 Q4 Sports Grant Applications
	Appendix 6 Sports.Talented IA Evaluation
	Appendix 7 Sports.Talented NW Evaluation
	Appendix 8 Sports.Talented OJ Evaluation
	Appendix 9 Sports.Club Development Grant.Parkinsons
	Appendix 10 Q4 Business Grant Applications
	Appendix 11 Clarity Accounting Evaluation
	Appendix 12 CG Proactive HR LTD Evaluation
	Appendix 13 Ellis Engineering Consultants Evaluation
	Appendix 14 Carli's Canines Evaluation
	Appendix 15 Ritual Tatoos Evaluation
	Appendix 16 Beechcroft Midlands Limited Evaluation
	Appendix 17 TL Cleaning Evaluation
	Appendix 18 RTV Detailing Evaluation
	Appendix 19 Nails Evaluation


